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Kim Wallin is a native Nevadan and is the
first CPA to be elected to the office of Nevada
State Controller in 50 years. She is the first
CMA (Certified Management Accountant) to
hold this office.

Kim is currently a member of the AGA
Partnership for Intergovernmental
Management and Accountability Steering
Committee, Vice President of NASC and

is a member of the NASACT Executive
Committee. She is also a member of the IMA
XBRL Standing Committee. In addition she
is a member of the Institute of Management
Accountants, AICPA, NSCPA, NASACT and
AGA.

Kim has been appointed to two workgroups
that were formed by an Executive Order. The
first one was to address improper payments
and Nevada was one of only three States that
was asked to serve on the workgroup. The second one was President Obama’s Federal/State Advisory
Committee on Administrative Flexibility, Lower Costs, and Better Results for State, Local, and Tribal
Governments. The committee’s purpose was to promote more effective government by reducing
unnecessary regulatory and administrative burdens and redirecting resources to services that are
essential to achieve better outcomes at lower costs.

In September 2003, Accounting Today recognized Wallin as one of the 100 most influential people in
accounting in the country. In September 2006 she was named “Woman CPA of the Year” of the entire
country by the American Women’s Society of CPA’s. In 2011 she received the ‘“President’s Award”
from the National Association of State Auditors, Comptrollers and Treasurers (NASACT).

Kim is the former Global Chair of the Institute of Management Accountants (IMA). IMA is the resource
for developing, certifying, and connecting the world’s best accountants and financial professionals
working in business. She served as Chair of IMA in 2003-2004 and she served as Chair of the Board of
Regents of the ICMA.

She served for two years on the Ethics Committee of the Nevada Society of CPA’s (NSCPA).

Wallin graduated from UNLV with a degree in Business Administration with a major in accounting.
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State of Pebvada
Office of State Controller

Carson Citp, PNevada 89701-4786

Rim R. Wallin, CMA, CFM, CPA Office: (775) 684-5632
State Controller December 17, 2012 Jfax: (775) 684-5696

To the Citizens, Governor and Legislators of the State of Nevada:

In accordance with Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 227.110 and the State Accounting Procedures Law (NRS 353.291 through
353.3245), I am pleased to present the State of Nevada Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2012. The objective of this Report is to provide a clear picture of the government as a single, unified entity, in
addition to traditional fund-based financial statements.

Introduction to the Report

Responsibility: The Controller’s Office prepares the State of Nevada CAFR and is responsible for the accuracy, completeness,
and fairness of the presentation, including disclosures. To the best of our knowledge and belief, the information contained
in the State of Nevada CAFR is accurate in all material respects and is reported in a manner that fairly presents the financial
position and results of operations of the State’s primary government and the component units for which it is financially account-
able. Additionally, this report includes all disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain a reasonable understanding of
Nevada’s financial activities.

U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles: As required by State Accounting Procedures Law, this report has been
prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), applicable to State and Local Govern-
ments as established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The State also voluntarily follows the recom-
mendations of the Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) for the contents of government financial reports and
participates in the GFOA’s review program for the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting.

Internal Control Structure: The State of Nevada has established a comprehensive internal control framework designed to
both safeguard the government’s assets against loss from unauthorized use or theft, and to properly record and adequately
document transactions. As a result, the transactions can be compiled into the presentation of the State’s financial statements in
conformity with U.S. GAAP. Since the cost of internal controls should not outweigh their benefits, the State’s comprehensive
framework of internal controls has been designed to provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial state-
ments will be free from material misstatement.

Many of the essential control features are decentralized. Consequently, the State relies upon the controls in place within the
various State departments and agencies. NRS 353A.025 requires the head of each agency to review their internal controls on a
periodic basis to determine if the agency is in compliance with the Uniform System of Internal Accounting and Administrative
Controls adopted pursuant to NRS 353A.020. On or prior to July Ist of even-numbered years, agencies are required to report
the status of their internal controls to the Department of Administration.

Independent Auditors: The independent accounting firm of Kafoury, Armstrong & Co. has audited the accompanying finan-
cial statements in accordance with generally accepted governmental auditing standards. Their opinion appears in the Financial
Section of this publication. The goal of the independent audit is to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements
of the State of Nevada are free of material misstatement. We received an unqualified opinion on the basic financial statements
for this fiscal year.



The independent audit of the financial statements of the State of Nevada is part of a broader, federally mandated Single Audit
designed to meet the special needs of federal grantor agencies. The standards governing Single Audit engagements require the
independent auditor to report not only on the fair presentation of the financial statements, but also on the audited government’s
internal controls and compliance with legal requirements, with special emphasis on internal controls and legal requirements
involving the financial statements. This report can be found in the Compliance Section of the CAFR, as well as in the State of
Nevada’s separately issued Single Audit Report.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis: U.S. Generally accepted accounting principles require management to provide a
narrative introduction, overview and analysis to accompany the basic financial statements in the form of Management’s Discus-
sion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction
with it.

Profile of Government

Background: The State of Nevada was admitted to the Union in 1864 and is bordered by five other states. The Great Basin
Desert dominates the landscape, with the Sierra Nevada Mountains to the west and the Rocky Mountains to the east. Over 80
percent of Nevada’s 70,264,320 acres are owned and managed by the federal government. Approximately 88 percent of our 2.7
million residents live in two distinct population centers, Washoe County in the northwest and Clark County at the southeast tip,
separated by 450 miles.

The State of Nevada does not levy a personal income tax. The State’s economy and tax base are dependent upon the interrelated
gaming and tourism industries as well as upon federal activities, mining, warehousing, manufacturing, and agriculture.

The State operates under a constitution which provides for a full range of services, including education, health and social servic-
es, highway maintenance and construction, law enforcement, public safety, business regulation, and resource development.

Reporting Entity: The State of Nevada reporting entity reflected in the State of Nevada CAFR, which is more fully described
in Note 1 to the basic financial statements, conforms to the requirements of GASB Statement No. 14. The accounting and
reporting principles contained in Statement No. 14 are based primarily upon the fundamental concept that publicly elected
officials are accountable to their constituents, and that financial statements should emphasize primary government and permit
financial statement users to distinguish between the primary government and its component units.

The primary government includes the Public Employees’, Legislators’ and Judicial Retirement Systems, and the Nevada Real
Property Corporation. The State Legislature retains significant governing powers over these entities. The Nevada System of
Higher Education and the Colorado River Commission are shown separately as component units to emphasize that they are
legally separate from the State.

Financial Information

Debt Management: The State Constitution limits the aggregate principal amount of the general obligation debt to two percent
of the total reported assessed property value of the State. Additional disclosures regarding the State’s long-term obligations are
provided in Note 8 to the basic financial statements.

Long Term Financial Planning and Financial Policies: The State’s statute requires a balanced budget (NRS 353.205) and
is designed to limit the growth of spending from the General Fund to the growth of population and inflation (NRS 353.213).
The Governor must submit a proposed budget for the Executive Branch to the State Legislature before each regular session,
which convenes every odd-numbered year. The Legislature enacts the budget through passage of the General Appropriations
Act and the Authorized Expenditures Act. Once passed and signed, the budget becomes the State’s financial plan for the next
two fiscal years.

In accordance with State statute, The Economic Forum, comprised of private economic and financial experts appointed by the
Legislature and the Governor, sets the General Fund revenue forecasts which are binding on the budget. If revenues fall below
those originally anticipated during the course of the fiscal year, the Governor must revise the budget to ensure that State appro-
priations do not exceed revenues. If the revisions exceed thresholds specified in NRS 353.220, they must be submitted to the
Legislative Interim Finance Committee for approval.



Economic Outlook

Nevada continues to experience a modest recovery after our worst recession. General Fund revenue for the fiscal year 2012
increased $48 million over last year to $6.2 billion. The largest increases over 2011 revenues were $39 million in sales
taxes; $35 million in gaming taxes, fees and licenses; and $14 million in other taxes. The largest decreases were $23 million
in licenses, fees and permits; $12 million in modified business taxes; and $10 million in intergovernmental revenue (funds
received from the Federal government). Nevada will continue to see a decline in funds received from the Federal government
as the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) money runs out. This will strain our already limited resources for
providing services to our citizens.

General Fund spending in fiscal year 2012 decreased by $91 million to $6.2 billion compared to 2011. The largest decrease in
spending was in intergovernmental expenditures for $153 million which was largely due to cuts in education of $126 million.
This decrease was offset by an increase of $102 million in Medicaid spending.

The consensus, at the non-binding meeting of Nevada’s Economic Forum in November, was that tax revenues for 2013 are
expected to increase by 2.4% over fiscal year 2012. Sales tax revenues are expected to increase by 5.7% over 2012 and gaming
taxes by 2.6%.

For the fiscal year ended, gaming taxes were $885 million which was a 4.1% increase over 2011, and sales taxes were $967
million which was a 3.8% increase over 2011. However, our gaming taxes and sales taxes remain below prerecession levels by
14.0% and 15.8% respectively. In Las Vegas, there were slight increases in hotel occupancy, up .1%. Average daily room rates
were up 4.2%, and visitor volume was up 3% compared to the same period in 2011.

Nevada is continuing to experience modest, steady job growth. The unemployment rate in Nevada was 11.6% in June 2012,
compared to the national rate of 8.2%. Nevada continues to have the highest unemployment rate in the nation. During 2012,
Nevada is expected to have added 13,000 new jobs, compared to only 12,000 jobs added in 2011. Nevada’s employment base
is expected grow by 12,000 jobs in 2013, dropping the unemployment rate to 10.6%. The State’s largest industry, tourism,
gaming and entertainment, has added nearly 20,000 jobs since reaching a recessionary low in November 2009. Other indus-
tries, professional and business services, health care and social assistance, trade, transportation and utilities have all seen
modest gains since late 2010.

Nevada’s housing market is beginning to show signs of recovery and Nevada is no longer the highest in the nation for home
foreclosures. The State’s foreclosure rate experienced a 31% decrease from 2010 to 2011. Sales of new and existing homes in
2012 are up over last year and home inventories are decreasing. Currently, the median asking price for a home in Las Vegas is
up by 8.4% over a year ago at $129,900 and in Reno the median asking price is up by 12.6% to $225,000 over the same period
in 2011.

Nevada extracts nearly 80% of the gold mined in the United States. In addition to large-scale commodities — gold, silver and
copper - other essential minerals, such as lithium compounds, are mined to fulfill demands for high-tech products. The number
of mining jobs grew to 16,200 in June 2012 up from 14,000 last year. Employment in this sector is expected to increase by
5.7% annually through 2013.

Major Initiatives

Business Growth: Nevada Governor’s Office of Economic Development was created during the 2011 Legislative session
to promote a diversified economy in Nevada by stimulating business expansion, encouraging entrepreneurial enterprise and
by attracting new businesses. Apple, Inc. has committed to invest $400 million over the next four years in a new data center
and office building in Washoe County. The data center estimates that they will add 35 employees and more than 200 contrac-
tors. Apple’s application agreement with the State includes tax abatements: sales tax reduced to 2% for up to three four-year
periods; and a reduction in personal property taxes by 85% for up to three 10-year periods. Pestmaster Services, a company that
specializes in green, sustainable solutions for pest control management, has relocated their corporate headquarters to Reno from
Bishop, California. The new headquarters’ relocation will add 25 employees to the area. Between capital investment and job
creation they expect to generate $10.5 million in economic growth in the region over the next five years. The office of Econom-
ic Development at UNLV seeks to promote private and public partnerships to support workforce development, match faculty
expertise with industry needs and develop technology by bringing intellectual property and inventions to the marketplace.



Defense opportunities still exist for Nevada in light of looming spending cuts in the national budget. Nevada has a long history
in the nation’s defense and aerospace industries, focusing on testing and training in a variety of defense related areas. Nevada
has applied to be one of the designated test sites for unmanned aerial vehicles for military and civilian uses. If Nevada is chosen
it will open up additional areas for developing and testing unmanned aerial vehicles. In calendar year 2011 over 800 jobs were
in the aerospace and defense industries. We have the potential to create an additional 400 new jobs through 2016.

Resource Development: Nevada has an abundance of solar, geothermal and wind resources with the potential to drive a strong
economy. As the renewable energy industry matures, our business environment and policies will become even more important
than the natural resources at our disposal. Today’s challenge is to provide the best business environment for employers that
design, manufacture and install renewable power generation systems. The State’s renewable portfolio standards require all
public utilities to generate 25% of their electricity from renewable energy resources by 2025. In calendar year 2011, 16% of
the State’s net electricity generation came from renewable sources.

Nevada is first in the nation in solar watts produced per capita. Several of the world’s largest solar projects are located in
Nevada: Acciona Solar Power’s 64-megawatt Nevada Solar One power plant near Boulder City can power 14,000 homes
annually; Sempra Generation’s 55-megawatt Copper Mountain near Boulder City, the largest photovoltaic plant in the United
States, can power 17,000 homes; Fotowatio Nevada Solar’s 13 megawatt Nellis Air Force Base power plant can supply more
than 25% of the total power used by the base population. Enel Green Power’s Stillwater Solar project and Enbridge/First
Solar’s Silver State North project were both completed in 2012 with the potential to create 74 megawatts of power. Sun Edison
is building a solar energy plant, RV Apex Solar, near Las Vegas. The project will create 250 construction jobs and four perma-
nent positions. The plant is expected to generate 20-megawatts of power when completed in late 2012. This infusion of capital
created a significant impact in establishing a solid economic base for green energy jobs and production of renewable energy
in Nevada. Solar Reserve accepted a loan guarantee of $737 million from the US Department of Energy for a 110 megawatt
Crescent Dunes solar thermal energy project near Tonopah. This project will create 600 construction jobs and could power
almost 75,000 homes when completed by the end of 2013. The Crescent Dunes project located in Nye County is the nation’s
first commercial-scale solar power facility with fully integrated energy storage and is the largest plant of its kind in the world.

The Spring Valley Wind project in White Pine County was completed in July 2012. The 150 megawatt project provided 225
construction jobs and 13 permanent positions. Their power purchase agreement with NV Energy will supply the power needs
of 45,000 homes and is expected to generate $20 million in tax revenue over the next 20 years. The Lander County School
District Wind Energy Project in Lander County was completed in December 2011, providing 360-kilowatts of power and is the
largest investment in wind power by any Nevada School District.

Gradient Resources began construction in the third quarter of 2011 of the Patua Geothermal project located in Lyon County.
The $300 million project has the potential to generate 60 megawatts of power and is expected to create 170 construction jobs
and 32 permanent positions. The project should be completed in 2012 and will generate enough to power 36,000 homes. Ormat
Nevada, Inc. accepted $350 million in loan guarantees from US Department of Energy to develop new geothermal facilities in
Lander, Pershing and Elko counties that would generate up to 121 megawatts, doubling the company’s output. These projects
created 330 construction jobs and 65 permanent jobs while increasing geothermal production by 25 percent in the State. The
Jersey Valley project in Pershing County became operational in 2011 and the McGinness Hills project in Lander County and
Tuscarora project in Elko County became operational in 2012.

Education: The Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP) results for all Nevada public schools show improvement over last year’s
results. This year 49% or 339 of our schools met the AYP requirements, up from 45%, or 308 schools, last year. Among
the schools that met AYP, 56 received distinguished recognition as High Achieving, Continuing Exemplary, Exemplary or
Exemplary Turnaround. This is an improvement of 24 schools, or 43%, over last year. This is the last year that Nevada will
report AYP results since the State has adopted a new Common Core Standards measure system.

Nevada was granted a waiver from U.S. Department of Education’s “No Child Left Behind” mandates by adding a condition
that the State adopts a 100-point index system to measure students’ performance. This differs from No Child Left Behind in
that it measures students’ progress rather than focusing on test scores at grade levels. Nevada will replace old standardized tests
and create new ones based on Common Core Standards. Nevada joins 32 other states and the District of Columbia that have
abandoned the federal measure system.

Despite continued efforts for improvements in key areas, Nevada continues to have the lowest graduation rate in the nation.
The Nevada Department of Education reports that only 62% of Nevada’s high school students will graduate in four years. In
Clark County that rate was even lower at 59%. The Reclaim Your Future program launched this year in Clark County is aimed



at getting students back in the classroom. The program includes a mentorship program that reaches out to at risk students by
connecting community volunteers with struggling students to help them make progress towards graduation. Another initiative
involves about 300 school and community volunteers visiting the homes of dropouts encouraging students to return to school.

Health and Human Services: Nevada spent $1.6 billion on Medicaid in 2012 or 26% of all general fund expenditures. Case-
loads grew by 5.6% to 285,485. This represents 10% of the State’s population, and that figure is expected to top 350,000 by
2015. In addition to more spending on Medicaid, additional demands were placed on other social services in 2012. The number
of those needing food stamps increased by 9% and the number of Women, Infants and Children (WIC) participants increased
by less than 1%. Nevada continues to struggle with a large number of uninsured citizens. It is estimated that 22% or 589,000
Nevadans are uninsured compared to 15% or 46 million nationwide.

The Office of Inspector General for the Department of Health and Human Services determined that during the period October
1, 2007 through September 30, 2009, Nevada improperly claimed federal reimbursement on behalf of Medicaid beneficiaries
for more than $72 million in Medicare Part B premiums. The Nevada Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS)
Division of Health Care Financing and Policy did not always comply with federal requirements for claiming reimbursement
for those premiums. The Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services has set aside $72.8 million for resolution with the DHHS
Division of Health Care Financing and Policy.

Transportation: Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT) completed one major project during the year. Phase 4 of the
US 95 Northwest Corridor Improvements Project was a new interchange on US 95 at Horse Drive in Las Vegas. The project
was completed on-time for a total of $82.5 million. In addition, travelers and commuters started traveling along the new 1-580
Freeway Extension between Reno and Carson City and the project is on track for final completion at the end of 2012. It has
alleviated severe congestion and is expected to reduce accidents between Carson City and Reno.

NDOT project schedules are contingent on the availability of funding. The Department anticipates a shortfall on the order of
$5.5 billion though 2016 that will limit their ability to fund not only new projects, but preservation and maintenance activities
as well. Without a higher level of funding, urban congestion will not be reduced and the existing State highway system will
deteriorate.

Awards and Acknowledgments

GFOA Certificate of Achievement: The GFOA awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting
to the State of Nevada for its CAFR for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achieve-
ment, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized CAFR that satisfies both generally accepted
accounting principles and applicable legal requirements. A copy of the GFOA Certificate of Achievement is included in the
Introductory Section of the CAFR.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for only a one-year period. We believe our current CAFR continues to meet the require-
ments of Certificate of Achievement Program and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another
certificate.

Acknowledgments and Conclusion: This report would not have been possible without the hard work, dedication and profes-
sionalism of my staff and the cooperation and assistance from all State Agencies, Legislature and the Judiciary. I sincerely
appreciate the efforts of all the individuals involved. The Nevada State Controller’s Office is committed to advancing account-
ability, continuity and efficiency in the State’s financial operations.

Sincerely,

Hom R Wl

Kim R. Wallin, CMA, CFM, CPA
Nevada State Controller
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(". KAFOURY, ARMSTRONG & CO.
( \_)) A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Independent Auditor’s Report

The Honorable Kim Wallin, CMA, CFM, CPA
State Controller

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the
aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the
State of Nevada, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2012, which collectively comprise the State of Nevada’s basic
financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the State of
Nevada’s management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.

We did not audit:

Government-Wide Financial Statements

» the financial statements of the Housing Division, which represent 54.59 percent of the assets and 3.95
percent of the revenues of the business-type activities;

» the financial statements of the Nevada System of Higher Education and the Colorado River Commission,
both of which are discretely presented component units.

Fund Financial Statements

»  the financial statements of the Housing Division Enterprise Fund, a major fund;

» the financial statements of the Self Insurance and Insurance Premiums Internal Service Funds which, in
the aggregate, represent less than one percent of the assets and the net assets, and 5.19 percent of the
revenues of the aggregate remaining fund information;

» the financial statements of the Pension Trust Funds and the Other Employee Benefit Trust Fund — State
Retirees’ Fund, which in the aggregate represent 71.94 percent of the assets, 71.08 percent of the net assets
and 35.73 percent of the revenues of the aggregate remaining fund information;

» the financial statements of the Nevada College Savings Plan — Private Purpose Trust Fund, which
represent 21.60 percent of the assets, 25.16 percent of the net assets and 38.36 percent of the revenues of
the aggregate remaining fund information;

» the financial statements of the Retirement Benefits Investment Fund — Investment Trust Fund, which
represent less than one percent of the assets, net assets and revenues of the aggregate remaining fund
mformation;

» the financial statements of the Division of Museums and History Dedicated Trust Fund, which represent
less than one percent of the assets, fund balance and revenues of the aggregate remaining fund
information.

Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose reports thereon have been furnished to us, and our
opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the above-mentioned funds and entities, is based on the reports
of the other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and

the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
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about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The financial statements of the Division of the
Museums and History Dedicated Trust Fund, the Pension Trust Funds, the Insurance Premiums Internal Service Fund
and the Retirement Benefits Investment Fund were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit and the reports of other auditors
provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the State of Nevada, as of June 30, 2012, and the respective changes in financial position and, where
applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 14, 2012 on our
consideration of the State of Nevada’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is
to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in
assessing the results of our audit.

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion and
analysis on pages 12 through 22 and the budgetary comparison information, the notes to required supplementary
information-budgetary reporting, the schedule of funding progress, and the schedule of infrastructure condition and
maintenance data, collectively presented on pages 88 through 92 be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We and the other auditors have
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries,
the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We
do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the
State of Nevada’s financial statements as a whole. The introductory section, combining statements and schedules, and
statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements.
The combining statements and schedules are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied by us and the other auditors in the audit of the financial statements
and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the information is fairly stated in all material
respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole. The introductory and statistical sections have not been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied by us and the other auditors in the audit of the basic financial statements
and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

fe omtong

Reno, Nevada
December 14, 2012

KAFOURY, ARMSTRONG & CO.
A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

State of Nevada management provides this discussion and analysis of the State of Nevada’s Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report (CAFR) for readers of the State’s financial statements. This narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of
the State of Nevada is for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. We encourage readers to consider this information in conjunction
with the additional information furnished in the letter of transmittal.

HIGHLIGHTS
Government-wide:
Net Assets — The assets of the State exceeded liabilities at the close of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012 by $4.6 billion
(reported as net assets). Of the $4.6 billion in net assets, $1.2 billion was restricted and not available to meet the State’s general
obligations. Also unavailable to meet the State’s general obligations is $4.0 billion invested in capital assets, net of related debt.

Changesin Net Assets— The State’s total net assets increased by $359.2 million in fiscal year 2012. Net assets of governmental
activities increased by $310.4 million (a 7.1% increase) and net assets of the business-type activities increased by $48.8 million
(a 93.8% increase).

Fund-level:

At the close of the current fiscal year, the State’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $1.4 billion,
a decrease of $82.5 million from the prior year. Of the ending fund balance, $638.5 million is not in spendable form, primarily
municipal securities and permanent fund principal, and $735.5 million is available for spending. The $735.5 million that is
spendable consists of: $337.7 million restricted to expenditure for specific purposes such as transportation and capital projects;
$494.1 million committed to expenditure for specific purposes such as servicing bonds payable, recreation and resource
development, contingencies and fiscal emergencies; and a negative $96.3 million unassigned, in the General Fund. The reasons
for the negative unassigned fund balance are disclosed in the Financial Analysis of the State’s Funds section below.

The State’s enterprise funds reported combined ending net assets of a negative $3.2 million, an increase of $48.8 million from
the prior year, attributable primarily to an increase of $26.1 million in net assets of the Water Projects Loans Fund, $14.5
million in the Unemployment Compensation Fund, $7.2 million in the Housing Division and $1 million in the non-major
enterprise funds. Of the combined ending net assets, $544.4 million represents a deficit in unrestricted net assets of which
$552.6 million is from the Unemployment Compensation Fund.

The State’s fiduciary funds reported combined ending net assets of $36.2 billion, an increase of $1.6 billion from the prior year.
This increase is due primarily to the change in the fair value of investments in the Pension Trust Funds and Private Purpose
Trust Funds.

Long-term Debt (government-wide):
The State’s total bonds payable and certificates of participation payable decreased by $239.3 million or 6.4% from $3.8 billion
in fiscal year 2011 to $3.5 billion in fiscal year 2012.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is an introduction to the State of Nevada’s basic financial statements which are comprised of three
components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements.
The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial
statements.

Government-wide Financial Statements:

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the State of Nevada’s
finances in a manner similar to the private sector. They take into account all revenues and expenses connected with the
fiscal year regardless of when cash is received or paid. The government-wide financial statements include the following two
statements:
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The statement of net assets presents all of the State’s assets and liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as “net
assets.” The statement combines and consolidates all of the State’s current financial resources with capital assets and long-
term obligations. Over time, increases and decreases in net assets measure whether the State’s financial position is improving
or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the State’s net assets changed during the most recent fiscal year.
The statement reveals how much it costs the State to provide its various services, and whether the services cover their own costs
through user fees, charges, grants, or are financed with taxes and other general revenues. All changes in net assets are reported
as soon as the underlying event occurs, regardless of the timing of cash flows. Therefore, some revenue and expenses reported
in this statement will not result in cash flows until future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused leave).

Both government-wide statements above report three types of activities:

Governmental Activities — Taxes and intergovernmental revenues primarily support these activities. Most services normally
associated with State government fall into this category, including general government, health and social services, education
and support services, law, justice and public safety, regulation of business, transportation, recreation and resource development,
interest on long-term debt and unallocated depreciation.

Business-type Activities — These activities are intended to recover all, or a significant portion, of the costs of the activities by
charging fees to customers. The Housing Division and Unemployment Compensation are examples of the State’s business-
type activities.

Discretely Presented Component Units — Component units are legally separate organizations for which the elected officials
of the government are financially accountable or have significant influence in governing board appointments. The State has
two discretely presented component units — the Nevada System of Higher Education and the Colorado River Commission.
Complete financial statements of the individual component units can be obtained from their respective administrative offices.

Fund Financial Statements:
A fund is an accounting entity consisting of a set of self-balancing accounts to track funding sources and spending for a
particular purpose. The State’s funds are broken down into three types:

Governmental funds — Most of the State’s basic services are reported in governmental funds. These funds focus on short-term
inflows and outflows of expendable resources as well as balances left at the end of the fiscal year available to finance future
activities. These funds are reported using the flow of current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual
basis of accounting.

The governmental fund financial statements focus on major funds and provide additional information that is not provided in
the government-wide financial statements. It is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with
similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers
may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. A reconciliation is provided
between the governmental fund statements and the governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.

Proprietary funds — When the State charges customers for the services it provides, whether to outside customers (enterprise
funds) or to other State agencies (internal service funds), the services are generally reported in the proprietary funds. Proprietary
funds apply the accrual basis of accounting utilized by private sector businesses, and there is a reconciliation between the
government-wide financial statement business-type activities and the enterprise fund financial statements. Because internal
service fund operations primarily benefit governmental funds, they are included with the governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements.

Fiduciary funds — These funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the state government.
For instance, the State acts as a trustee or fiduciary for its employee pension plans, and it is also responsible for other assets
that, because of a trust arrangement, can be used only for the trust beneficiaries. Fiduciary funds are reported using the accrual
basis of accounting. The government-wide statements exclude fiduciary fund activities and balances because these assets are
restricted in purpose and do not represent discretionary assets of the State to finance its operations.
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Notes to the Financial Statements:
The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided
in both the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Required Supplementary Information:

The required supplementary information includes budgetary comparison schedules for the General Fund and major special
revenue funds, along with notes and a reconciliation of the statutory and U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
fund balances at fiscal year-end. This section also includes a schedule of funding progress for certain pension trust funds and
a schedule of infrastructure condition and maintenance data.

Other Supplementary Information:

Other supplementary information includes combining financial statements for non-major governmental, non-major enterprise,
all internal service and all fiduciary funds. The non-major funds are added together, by fund type, and presented in single
columns in the basic financial statements. Other supplementary information contains budgetary schedules of total uses for the
General Fund and special revenue fund budgets, as well as a schedule of sources for non-major special revenue fund budgets.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

The State’s overall financial position and operations for the fiscal years ended June 30,2012 and 2011 for the primary government
are summarized in the following statements based on the information included in the government-wide financial statements.

State of Nevada's Net Assets-Primary Government
(expressed in thousands)
Governmental Business-type Total
Activities Activities Total Change
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012-2011

Assets
Current and other assets $ 3,427,097 $ 3,301,053 $ 1,886,060 $ 1,976,771 $ 5,313,157 § 5,277,824 § 35,333
Net capital assets 5,650,527 5,497,486 10,721 10,765 5,661,248 5,508,251 152,997

Total assets 9,077,624 8,798,539 1,896,781 1,987,536 10,974,405 10,786,075 188,330
Liabilities
Current liabilities 1,588,782 1,494,432 101,252 90,717 1,690,034 1,585,149 104,885
Long-term liabilities 2,830,423 2,956,072 1,798,728 1,948,874 4,629,151 4,904,946 (275,795)

Total liabilities 4,419,205 4,450,504 1,899,980 2,039,591 6,319,185 6,490,095 (170,910)
Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net

of related debt 4,017,147 3,875,141 3,076 3,120 4,020,223 3,878,261 141,962

Restricted 700,341 749,818 538,143 503,090 1,238,484 1,252,908 (14,424)
Unrestricted (deficit) (59,069) (276,924) (544,418) (558,265) (603,487) (835,189) 231,702

Total net assets $ 4,658,419 § 4,348,035 $ (3,199) $§ (52,055) $ 4,655,220 $ 4,295980 $ 359,240

Net Assets:

As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. The State’s combined
net assets (governmental and business-type activities) increased to $4.6 billion at the end of 2012, compared with $4.3 billion
at the end of the previous year.

The largest portion of the State’s net assets ($4.0 billion or 86.4%) reflects its investment in capital assets such as land,
buildings, improvements other than buildings, equipment, construction in progress, infrastructure and rights-of-way, less any
related debt still outstanding that was used to acquire those assets. The State uses these capital assets to provide services to its
citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the State’s investment in its capital assets is
reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources,
since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.
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An additional portion of the State’s net assets ($1.2 billion or 26.6%) represents resources that are subject to external restrictions
on how they may be used. At the close of the fiscal year, the State reported an unrestricted net assets deficit of $603.5 million
or (13.0%), as compared to an $835.2 million deficit in the prior year.

The unrestricted net assets deficit decreased in governmental activities by $217.9 million, and in business-type activities by
$13.8 million. In the governmental activities, the decrease was a result of several factors, including a decrease in long-term
obligations of $134.4 million; an increase in the unrestricted fund balances of the General Fund and the Tobacco Settlement
fund (a nonmajor special revenue fund) in the amounts of $36.2 million and $13.9 million, respectively; and an increase in
General Fund deferred revenue unavailable, recognized as revenue in the government-wide statement of net assets, in the
amount of $29.2 million. Of this amount, $13.4 million is from rebates for health and social services, and $7.5 million is from
taxes. In the business-type activities, the decrease is primarily due to a decrease in the deficit net assets of the Unemployment
Compensation Fund in the amount of $14.5 million.

Changes in State of Nevada's Net Assets-Primary Government
(expressed in thousands)

Governmental Business-type Total
Activities Activities Total Change
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012-2011
Revenues
Program revenues
Charges for services $ 794555 $ 870,281 $ 93924 $ 97,356 $ 888,479 $ 967,637 $ (79,158)
Operating grants and contributions 3,091,556 3,050,092 862,548 1,251,949 3,954,104 4,302,041 (347,937)
Capital grants and contributions 73,749 164,711 - - 73,749 164,711 (90,962)
General revenues
Sales and use taxes 967,373 931,911 - - 967,373 931,911 35,462
Gaming taxes 884,928 850,021 - - 884,928 850,021 34,907
Modified business taxes 373,156 378,971 - - 373,156 378,971 (5,815)
Insurance premium taxes 238,083 233,334 - - 238,083 233,334 4,749
Property and transfer taxes 215,649 231,758 - - 215,649 231,758 (16,109)
Motor and special fuel taxes 267,181 267,649 - - 267,181 267,649 (468)
Other taxes 655,265 662,120 515,402 403,509 1,170,667 1,065,629 105,038
Investment earnings (11,543) (4,182) - - (11,543) (4,182) (7,361)
Other 341,597 240,909 - - 341,597 240,909 100,688
Total Revenues 7,891,549 7,877,575 1,471,874 1,752,814 9,363,423 9,630,389 (266,966)
Expenses
General government 240,417 334,616 - - 240,417 334,616 (94,199)
Health and social services 3,250,926 3,209,237 - - 3,250,926 3,209,237 41,689
Education and support services 2,280,899 2,393,536 - - 2,280,899 2,393,536 (112,637)
Law, justice and public safety 646,701 667,598 - - 646,701 667,598 (20,897)
Regulation of business 101,687 122,679 - - 101,687 122,679 (20,992)
Transportation 801,797 630,657 - - 801,797 630,657 171,140
Recreation and resource development 138,599 153,404 - - 138,599 153,404 (14,805)
Interest on long-term debt 122,080 128,606 - - 122,080 128,606 (6,526)
Unallocated depreciation 1,755 1,402 - - 1,755 1,402 353
Unemployment insurance - - 1,286,839 1,767,632 1,286,839 1,767,632 (480,793)
Housing - - 50,979 83,467 50,979 83,467 (32,488)
Water loans - - 8,249 16,476 8,249 16,476 (8,227)
Workers' compensation and safety - - 27,706 29,642 27,706 29,642 (1,936)
Higher education - - 26,067 18,959 26,067 18,959 7,108
Other - - 26,187 28,905 26,187 28,905 (2,718)
Total Expenses 7,584,861 7,641,735 1,426,027 1,945,081 9,010,888 9,586,816 (575,928)
Excess (deficiency) in net assets before
contributions to permanent funds
and transfers 306,688 235,840 45,847 (192,267) 352,535 43,573 308,962
Contributions to permanent fund 6,705 6,637 - - 6,705 6,637 68
Transfers (3,009) 24,044 3,009 (24,044) - - -
Change in net assets 310,384 266,521 48,856 (216,311) 359,240 50,210 309,030
Net assets - beginning of year 4,348,035 4,081,514 (52,055) 164,256 4,295,980 4,245,770 50,210

Net assets - end of year

$ 4,658,419 §$ 4,348,035

$ (3,199) $ (52,055) $ 4,655,220

$ 4,295,980 $ 359,240

Changes in Net Assets:

Total government-wide revenues decreased by $266.9 million over the prior year, due primarily to a reduction in the State’s
federal funds. The federal funds received by the Unemployment Compensation Fund through the American Recovery and
Reinvestment Act decreased to $734.8 million in 2012, down from $1.1 billion in 2011.
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Governmental activities — The net assets increased by $310.4 million or 7.1%. Approximately 46.0% of the total revenue came
from taxes, while 40.0% was in the form of grants and contributions (including federal aid). Charges for various goods and
services provided 10.0% of the total revenues (see chart below). The State’s governmental activities expenses cover a range of
services and the largest expenses were for health and social services (43.0%) and education (30.0%) (see chart below). In 2012,
governmental activities expenses exceeded program revenues, resulting in the use of $3.6 billion in general revenues, which
were generated to support the government.

The following chart depicts the governmental activities revenues for the fiscal year:
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The following chart depicts the governmental activities expenses for the fiscal year:
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The following table depicts the total program revenues and expenses for each function of governmental activities:

( )
Revenues and Expenses by Function: Governmental Activities
(expressed in thousands)
Expenses Revenue
General Government $ 240,417 $ 228,047
Health and Social Services 3,250,926 2,252,289
Education 2,280,899 420,338
Law, Justice 646,701 337,301
Regulation 101,687 87,491
Transportation 801,797 556,408
Recreation 138,599 76,660
Total $ 7,461,026 $ 3,958,534

—

Business-type activities — The net assets increased by $48.8 million or 93.9%. Approximately 35.0% of the total revenue came
from taxes, while 59.0% was in the form of grants and contributions (including federal aid). Charges for various goods and
services provided 6.0% of the total revenues (see chart below). The State’s business-type activities expenses cover a range of
services. The largest expenses were for unemployment compensation (90.0%) and housing (3.0%) (see chart below). In 2012,
business-type activities expenses exceeded program revenues by $469.6 million. Of this amount, unemployment compensation
was the largest, with net expenses of $514.9 million, resulting in the use of $515.4 million in general revenues generated by and
restricted to the Unemployment Compensation Fund.
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The following chart depicts the business-type activities revenues for the fiscal year:
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The following chart depicts the business-type activities expenses for the fiscal year:
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The following table depicts the total program revenues and expenses for each function for business-type activities:

-

Revenues and Expenses by Function: Business-type Activities
(expressed in thousands)
Expenses Revenue
Unemployment Compensation $ 1,286,839  $ 771,923
Housing 50,979 58,127
Water Loans 8,249 35,639
Workers Compensation 27,706 40,437
Higher Education 26,067 23,044
Other 26,187 27,302
Total $ 1,426,027 $ 956,472

The State government’s overall financial position improved over the past fiscal year, with a $310.4 million increase in the net
assets of the governmental activities and a $48.8 million increase in the net assets of the business-type activities. Net assets
of the governmental activities increased 7.1% during 2012, while 2011 increased 6.5%. The net assets of the business-type
activities had a 93.9% increase during the current fiscal year. In 2011, business-type activities net assets declined 131.7%.
Nevada continues to recover at a moderate pace. Key economic indicators from the State’s sales and gaming taxes continue
to show positive growth. Tax revenues for governmental activities increased in the current fiscal year $45.9 million or 1.3%,
compared to an increase of $70.0 million or 2.0% in the prior fiscal year. This increase was mainly a result of increased
collections of sales taxes and gaming taxes. In the Highway Fund, revenues increased $11.7 million in interlocal projects, $8.1
million in registration fees and $2.7 million in gas tax. In addition, mining fees totaling $16.3 million were refunded in fiscal

year 2012, under Senate Bill 493 of the 74"" Legislative Session.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE STATE’S FUNDS

Governmental Funds:

As of the end of the current fiscal year, the State’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $1.4 billion,
a decrease of $82.5 million in comparison with the prior year. Of these total ending fund balances, $638.5 million (46.4%)
is nonspendable, either due to its form or legal constraints, and $337.7 million (24.6%) is restricted for specific programs by
external constraints, constitutional provisions, or contractual obligations. An additional $494.1 million (36.0%) of total fund
balance has been committed to specific purposes. Committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless approved
by the Legislature. Included in committed fund balance is $84.7 million for fiscal emergency. NRS 353.288 provides for the
Account to Stabilize the Operation of the State Government (Stabilization Account) in the State General Fund. Additions to the
stabilization arrangement are triggered at the end of a fiscal year if the General Fund unrestricted fund balance (budgetary basis)
exceeds 7% of General Fund operating appropriations, in which case forty percent of the excess is deposited to the Stabilization
Account. Expenditures may occur only if actual revenues for the biennium fall short by 5% or more from anticipated revenues,
or if the Legislature and Governor declare that a fiscal emergency exists. Additions to the Stabilization Account were $45.5
million in the current fiscal year and $39.2 million in the prior fiscal year. The remaining negative $96.3 million (7.0%) of fund
balance is unassigned. The major funds are discussed more fully below.

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the State. At the end of the current fiscal year, the total General Fund fund
balance was $270.3 million compared to $246.7 million in the prior fiscal year. The fund balance increase from operations
of $23.6 million during the current fiscal year is a 9.6% increase from the prior year. Reasons for this increase are discussed
in further detail below. The negative unassigned fund balance of $96.3 million is mostly due to an accrual for Medicaid
expenditures and for deferral of gaming taxes and mining taxes already collected and budgeted.

The following schedule presents a summary of revenues of the General Fund for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2012 and 2011
(expressed in thousands). Other financing sources are not included.

General Fund Revenues (expressed in thousands)
2012 2011 Increase (Decrease)
Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent

Gaming taxes, fees and licenses $ 870,007 14.0% $ 835,245 135% $ 34,762 4.2%
Sales taxes 965,060 15.5% 925,898 15.0% 39,162 4.2%
Modified business taxes 369,661 5.9% 381,901 6.2% (12,240) -3.2%
Insurance premium taxes 236,787 3.8% 234,831 3.8% 1,956 0.8%
Property and transfer taxes 48,683 0.8% 51,552 0.8% (2,869) -5.6%
Motor and special fuel taxes 2,825 0.0% 2,953 0.0% (128) -4.3%
Other taxes 598,210 9.6% 583,828 9.4% 14,382 2.5%
Intergovernmental 2,678,186 43.0% 2,688,280 43.4% (10,094) -0.4%
Licenses, fees and permits 278,356 4.5% 301,462 4.9% (23,106) -7.7%
Sales and charges for services 55,719 0.9% 53,284 0.9% 2,435 4.6%
Interest and investment income 6,006 0.1% 10,161 0.2% (4,155) -40.9%
Other revenues 125,418 2.0% 117,688 1.9% 7,730 6.6%

Total revenues $ 6,234,918 100.0% $ 6,187,083 100.0% $ 47,835 0.8%

The total General Fund revenues increased 0.8%. The largest increases in revenue sources were $39.2 million or 4.2% in
sales taxes, $34.8 million or 4.2% in gaming taxes, fees and licenses, and $14.4 million or 2.5% in other taxes. Other taxes
include a Legislative allocation from the Highway Fund of commissions and penalties on the Governmental Services Tax of
$24.7 million. The largest declines in revenue sources were $23.1 million or 7.7% in licenses, fees and permits revenue, due
to a decrease in mining claim fees of $18.1 million, and $12.2 million or 3.2% in modified business taxes. During the 2011
Legislative Session, Senate Bill No. 493, Sec. 16.3, repealed NRS 517.187 (enacted during the 26" Special Session in 2010)
thereby eliminating certain fees that had been imposed upon persons holding mining claims.

The following schedule presents a summary of expenditures by function of the General Fund for the fiscal years ended June 30,
2012 and 2011 (expressed in thousands). Other financing uses are not included.
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General Fund Expenditures (expressed in thousands)

2012 2011 Increase (Decrease)
Amount Percent Amount Percent Amount Percent

General government $ 134,260 22% $ 140,751 22% $ (6,491) -4.6%
Health and social services 2,991,985 48.0% 2,890,268 45.7% 101,717 3.5%
Education and support services 53,430 0.9% 53,333 0.8% 97 0.2%
Law, justice and public safety 424,439 6.8% 434,004 6.9% (9,565) -2.2%
Regulation of business 73,408 1.2% 90,492 1.4% (17,084) -18.9%
Recreation, resource development 100,956 1.6% 107,769 1.7% (6,813) -6.3%
Intergovernmental 2,449,931 39.3% 2,602,499 41.2% (152,568) -5.9%
Debt service 3,190 0.1% 3,684 0.1% (494) -13.4%

Total expenditures $ 6,231,599 100.0% $ 6,322,800 100.0% $ (91,201) -1.4%

The total General Fund expenditures decreased 1.4%. Health and social services expenditures increased $101.7 million or 3.5%.
The largest portion of this amount was for the Medicaid and food stamp programs. The decrease in remaining expenditures was
$192.9 million or 5.6% with the largest decrease of $152.6 million occurring in intergovernmental expenditures.

The Sate Highway Fund is a special revenue fund used to account for the maintenance, regulation and construction of public
highways and is funded through vehicle fuel taxes, federal funds, other charges and bond revenue. The fund balance decreased
$134.1 million during the current fiscal year, which is a 46.5% decrease from the prior year. Other taxes decreased by $24.9
million down from $38.4 million in 2011 primarily due to a Legislative allocation to the General Fund of commissions and
penalties on the Governmental Services Tax, and increased intergovernmental transportation payments of $80.4 million
compared to $58.7 million in 2011. The nonspendable fund balance is $14.8 million and the restricted fund balance is $139.3
million.

The Municipal Bond Bank Fund is a special revenue fund used to account for revenues and expenditures associated with buying
local government bonds with proceeds of State general obligation bonds. The fund balance decreased by $0.9 million during
the current fiscal year, which is a less than 1% decrease from the prior year. This decrease was primarily due to the refunding
of local government bonds.

The Consolidated Bond Interest and Redemption Fund is a debt service fund used to accumulate monies for the payment of
leases and principal and interest on general obligation bonds of the State. The fund balance increased by $3.6 million during
the current fiscal year, which is a 2.5% increase from the prior year. Revenue from property tax collections decreased, but was
more than offset by the decrease in expenditures for debt service principal and interest.

The Permanent School Fund is a permanent fund used to account for certain property and the proceeds derived from such
property, escheated estates, and all fines collected under penal laws of the State, which become permanent assets of the fund.
All earnings on the assets are to be used for education. The fund balance increased by $6.7 million during the current fiscal
year, which is a 2.2% increase from the prior year. This increase was primarily due to $5.9 million in fines received from county
justice courts and district courts.

Proprietary Funds:

The State’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide financial statements, but in
more detail. Proprietary funds are comprised of two types: enterprise funds and internal service funds. Enterprise funds are
used when goods or services are provided primarily to parties outside of the State while internal service funds are used when
goods or services are provided primarily to State agencies.

Enterprise Funds — There are three major enterprise funds: Housing Division Fund, Unemployment Compensation Fund and
Water Projects Loans Fund. The combined net assets of the three major funds is a negative $46.7 million, the net assets of the
nonmajor funds is a positive $43.5 million and total combined net assets of all enterprise funds is a negative $3.2 million. The
combined net assets of the enterprise funds increased by $48.8 million in 2012. The major enterprise funds are discussed below:

TheHousing Division Fund provides low interest loans to first-time homebuyers with low or moderate household incomes. The
net assets increased by $7.2 million or 3.7% during the current fiscal year, and the results of operations were down 45.3% from
last year, due to the increase in payments of federal grant funds to struggling homeowners from Nevada Affordable Housing
Assistance Corporation.
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The Unemployment Compensation Fund accounts for the payment of unemployment compensation benefits to unemployed
State citizens. The net assets increased by $14.5 million during the current fiscal year, which is a 2.6% increase from the prior
year. Claims revenue exceeded expenses by $27.2 million for fiscal year 2012. Fiscal year 2012 total claims expense of $1.3
billion was less than the fiscal year 2011 total claims expense of $1.8 billion, or a 28.1% decrease. The leading cause for the
net asset increase is due to the previously allowed employers’ State unemployment credit that is now applied to the State’s
outstanding unemployment loan balance, and a reduction in unemployment claims. During the fiscal year, the General Fund
paid $22.6 million in accrued interest on federal advances from the previous fiscal year to the Federal government. Interest
is due and payable on the federal advances by the end of the Federal fiscal year which ends on September 30. As of June 30,
2012, the total amount of federal unemployment advances and interest due to the U.S. Department of Labor in accordance with
provisions of Title XII, Section 1201 of the Social Security Act totaled $720.4 million and $18.9 million, respectively. Total
federal advances decreased $52.7 million from $773.1 million in 2011.

The Water Projects Loans Fund issues loans to governmental and private entities for two programs: safe drinking water and
water pollution control. The federal EPA matches the State’s bond proceeds to make loans to governmental entities; only
federal funds are loaned to private entities. Total revenues exceeded expenses and transfers by $26.1 million during the current
fiscal year, for final net assets of $306.1 million, which is a 9.3% increase from the prior year. This increase is a result of
decreased operating expenses related to aid to governmental units.

Internal Service Funds— The internal service funds charge State agencies for goods and services such as building maintenance,
purchasing, printing, insurance, data processing and motor pool in order to recover the costs of the goods or services. Rates
charged to State agencies for the operations of internal service funds are adjusted in following years to offset gains and losses.
Because these are allocations of costs to other funds, they are not included separately in the government-wide financial statements
but are eliminated and reclassified as either governmental activities or business-type activities. In 2012, total internal service
fund net assets decreased by $1.8 million, for a final net asset balance of $56.2 million. The two largest funds are:

The Self-Insurance Fund accounts for group health, life and disability insurance for State employees and retirees and certain
other public employees. Net assets increased by $6.6 million during the current fiscal year, which is an 8.7% increase from the
prior year, leaving final net assets of $83.3 million. This year’s increase was caused primarily by a 21.9% decrease in claims
expense offset by a 15.8% decrease in insurance premium income.

The Insurance Premiums Fund accounts for general, civil (tort), auto and property casualty liabilities of State agencies. The
deficit increased by $8.4 million or 21.1% during fiscal year 2012, to a total deficit of $48.3 million. The decrease in net
premium income of 24.0% was caused by a reduction of the insurance assessment based on the State’s history of claims.

ANALYSIS OF GENERAL FUND BUDGET VARIATIONS

The General Fund total sources were $468.2 million or 6.0% less than the final budget. This was due primarily to actual
intergovernmental revenues received that were less than the final budgeted amount. Intergovernmental revenues represent
federal grants, and there are timing differences arising from when grants are awarded, received and spent. The final budget
can include grant revenue for the entire grant period, whereas the actual represents grant revenue received in the current year.

The net increase in the General Fund expenditures and other uses budget from original to final was $619.3 million. Some of
the differences originate because the original budget consists only of those budgets subject to legislative approval through the
General Appropriations Act and the Authorizations Bill. The non-executive budgets, not subject to legislative approval, only
require approval by the Budget Division and if approved after July 1, are considered to be revisions. Increases due to the non-
executive budgets approved after July 1 and increased estimated receipts were approximately $619.4 million.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION
Capital Assets:
The State’s capital assets for governmental and business-type activities as of June 30, 2012, amount to $6.7 billion, net of
accumulated depreciation of $1.0 billion, leaving a net book value of $5.7 billion. This investment in capital assets includes
land, buildings, improvements other than buildings, equipment, software costs, infrastructure, rights-of-way, and construction
in progress. Infrastructure assets are items that are normally immovable, such as roads and bridges.
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As allowed by GASB Statement No. 34, the State has adopted an alternative process for recording depreciation expense on
selected infrastructure assets. Under this alternative method, referred to as the modified approach, the State expenses certain
maintenance and preservation costs and does not report depreciation expense on infrastructure. Utilization of this approach
requires the State to: 1) commit to maintaining and preserving affected assets at or above a condition level established by the
State; 2) maintain an inventory of the assets and perform periodic condition assessments to ensure that the condition level is
being maintained; and 3) make annual estimates of the amounts that must be expended to maintain and preserve assets at the
predetermined condition levels. To monitor the condition of the roadways the State uses the International Roughness Index
(IRI). The State has set a policy that it will maintain a certain percentage of each category of its roadways with an IRI of less
than 80 and will also maintain its bridges so that not more than 10% are structurally deficient or functionally obsolete. The
Department of Transportation conducts a biennial condition assessment of roadways and bridges in odd numbered calendar
years. The most recent condition assessment shows a decline in the condition level of the roadways. However, the results of
the three most recent condition assessments provide reasonable assurance that the condition level of the roadways is being
preserved above the condition level established. The following table shows the State’s policy and the condition level of the
roadways and bridges:

Condition Level of the Roadways

Percentage of roadways with an IRI of less than 80

Category
| I 11 v \V
State Policy-minimum percentage 70% 65% 60% 40% 10%
Actual results of 2011 condition assessment 56% 79% 67% 30% 9%
Actual results of 2009 condition assessment 82% 82% 87% 56% 21%
Actual results of 2007 condition assessment 82% 82% 88% 61% 25%

Condition Level of the Bridges

Percentage of substandard bridges
2011 2009 2007

State Policy-maximum percentage 10% 10% 10%

The estimated amount necessary to maintain and preserve infrastructure assets at target condition levels exceeded the actual
amounts of expense incurred for fiscal year 2012 by $17.9 million. Even though actual spending for maintenance and
preservation of infrastructure assets fell below estimates, condition levels are expected to continue to meet or exceed the target
condition levels for the roadway category. Additional information on the State’s infrastructure can be found in the Schedule of
Infrastructure Condition and Maintenance Data in the Required Supplementary Information section to the financial statements.

To keep pace with the demands of the population, the State also has a substantial capital projects program. The following is a
summary of major projects in progress or completed during 2012 (expressed in millions):

Expended by

June 30, 2012 Total Budget
Indian Springs Conservation Camp $ 40.8 $ 40.9
New Readiness Center North Las Vegas 14.5 35.8
Unemployment Insurance Software Development 17.5 35.6
SDCC Housing Unit & Planning 23.6 28.9
Las Vegas Readiness Center 24.6 25.9
Las Vegas Readiness Center - Field Maintenance Shop 2.5 26.9
Department of Corrections Energy Retrofit 16.7 16.7
Elko County Readiness Center 10.5 16.6
Civil Support Team WMD Readiness Center 0.8 13.7
Southern Nevada Veterans' Cemetery Expansion 2.5 11.4
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The total increase in the State’s capital assets for the primary government for the current fiscal year was $346.0 million.
This increase included current expenditures to purchase capital assets and completed projects from construction in progress.
Depreciation charges for the year totaled $70.6 million.

Additional information on the State’s capital assets can be found in Note 7 to the financial statements.

Debt Administration:

As of year-end, the State had $4.6 billion in long-term liabilities outstanding, compared to $4.9 billion last year, a decrease of
$275.8 million or 5.6% during the current fiscal year. This decrease was due primarily to the refunding of general obligation
bonds.

The most current bond ratings from Fitch, Moody’s Investor Service and Standard and Poor’s were AA+, Aa2 and AA,
respectively. These ratings are an indication of high quality obligations and a reflection of sound financial management. The
Constitution of the State limits the aggregate principal amount of the general obligation debt to 2% of the total reported assessed
property value of the State.

New bonds issued during the 2012 fiscal year were (expressed in thousands):

Housing Single-Family 2011 Issue C 01/21/2011 $ 5,500
Housing Single-Family 2011 Issue D 01/11/2011 32,460
Housing Single-Family 2011 Issue B 06/30/2011 15,000
General Obligation Capital Improvement, Cultural Affairs and Refunding Bonds 11/16/2011A 65,245
General Obligation Hoover Uprating Refunding Bonds 11/16/2011B 5,545
General Obligation Water Pollution Control Revolving Fund Leveraged Refunding Bonds 11/16/2011C 28,460
General Obligation Open Space, Parks and Cultural Resources Refunding Bonds 11/16/2011D 32,835
General Obligation Open Space, Parks and Natural Resources Refunding Bonds 11/16/2011E 14,530
General Obligation Safe Drinking Water Revolving Fund Matching Bonds 11/16/2011F 2,820
General Obligation Municipal Bond Bank Projects 03/22/2012A 25,445
General Obligation Capital Improvement, Cultural Affairs and Refunding Bonds 03/22/2012B 50,800
General Obligation Natural Resources Refunding Bonds 03/22/2012C 25,510
General Obligation Open Space, Parks and Natural Resources Refunding Bonds 03/22/2012D 4,245
Highway Revenue Refunding Bonds 05/14/2012 66,490

This list of new bonds does not agree completely with the schedule of additions as seen in Note 8 to the financial statements,
due to the inclusion of deferred items and bonds redeemed prior to year-end.

Additional information on the State’s long-term debt obligations can be found in Note 8 to the financial statements and in the
Statistical Section.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the State of Nevada’s finances. Questions concerning any
of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to: State of
Nevada, Office of the State Controller, 101 N. Carson Street, Suite 5, Carson City, NV 89701-4786 or visit our website at:
www.controller.nv.gov.
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The Nevada Museum of Art is a museum of ideas. While building upon our founding
collections and values, we cultivate meaningful art and societal experiences, and foster new knowledge
in the visual arts by encouraging interdisciplinary investigation. The Nevada Museum of Art serves as
a cultural and educational resource for everyone.

For almost all of its nearly 80-year history, the Nevada Museum of Art has provided significant arts
education programming for the public, school-aged youth, teachers, and artists in northern Nevada.
Providing rich cultural programming for the community and region has been a central focus of the
Museum’s educational mission, and the Museum seeks to further this important foundation of work.

As the only accredited art museum in the State of Nevada, the Museum has a great responsibility

to serve the public. As many of Nevada’s school districts currently lack any certified art teachers

at the elementary level, and many districts require only one credit in arts or humanities for high
school graduation, the Museum also serves an important role in providing cultural and art education
opportunities for the youth of the region who will otherwise not have access to broad arts education
opportunities in the State.

“Read the Day Away”
Tori Hansen

Provided by the Nevada Museum of Art
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Contact Information:

Donald W. Reynolds Center for the Visual Arts
160 West Liberty Street
Reno, Nevada 89501

Phone: 775.329.3333

Fax: 775.329.1541

Email: art@nevadaart.org

Website: http:/ /www.nevadaart.org/
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Basic FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Provided by the Nevada Museum of Art

“A Vast Sea of Emptiness”
Colton Witt
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Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds

June 30, 2012

Cash and pooled investments:
Cash with treasurer
Cash in custody of other officials

Investments

Receivables:
Accounts receivable
Taxes receivable
Intergovernmental receivables
Accrued interest and dividends
Notes/loans receivable
Settlement receivable
Other receivables

Due from other funds

Due from fiduciary funds
Due from component units
Inventory

Advances to other funds
Prepaid items

Total assets

Accounts payable and accruals:
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and related liabilities
Intergovernmental payables
Interest payable
Contracts/retentions payable

Due to other funds

Due to fiduciary funds
Due to component units
Deferred revenues
Bonds payable

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Fund balances:
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Unassigned

Total fund balances
Total liabilities and fund balances

General Fund

State Highway

Municipal Bond Bank

$ 530,770,568 198,708,927 341,525
7,672,518 167,209 -

9,419,045 - 286,235,000

40,187,377 2,483,523 -
791,082,924 36,573,746 -
304,257,617 28,559,008 -
2,694,473 - 1,358,975

12,096,332 - -

15,830 - -

37,930,574 7,415,653 5,711

234,271 ; )

152,059 1,371 -

2,387,464 14,778,377 -

6,399,035 - -

3,456,341 20,886 -

$ 1,748,756,428 288,708,700 287,941,211
$ 346,540,360 34,893,507 -
42,091,939 16,065,690 -
82,944,593 13,352,422 6,620

1,133,003 36,644,370 -

19,367,481 2,143,223 408,760
457,663,879 1,047,832 -
6,501,676 132,763 -
439,912,163 29,083,425 1,360,060
82,272,608 1,287,109 -
1,478,427,702 134,650,341 1,775,440
23,800,656 14,799,263 286,165,771
61,049,208 139,259,096 -
281,751,325 - -
(96,272,463) - -
270,328,726 154,058,359 286,165,771

$ 1,748,756,428 288,708,700 287,941,211

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Consolidated Bond

Permanent School

Other Governmental

Total Governmental

Interest and Redemption Fund Funds Funds
146,764,487 7,723,544 252,692,612 1,137,001,663
- - 199,893 8,039,620
- 306,754,841 5,876,066 608,284,952
- - 22,971,262 65,642,162
- - 6,427,259 834,083,929
105,979,167 394,683 8,583,175 447,773,650
- 960,959 1,632 5,016,039
- - - 12,096,332
- - 87,428,226 87,428,226
- - - 15,830
972,564 31,410 16,856,854 63,212,766
- - 432,084 666,355
5,066,075 - - 5,219,505
- - 437,562 17,603,403
1,205,093 - - 7,604,128
- - 10,064 3,487,291
259,987,386 315,865,437 401,916,689 3,303,175,851
103,383 - 18,338,264 399,875,514
- - 3,016,895 61,174,524
- - 2,983,217 99,286,852
2,421,696 - - 2,421,696
- - 9,554,919 47,332,292
213,443 1,208,676 41,117,396 64,458,979
- - 10,531 458,722,242
28,195 - 13,176,441 19,839,075
110,174,336 8,331 110,129,158 690,667,473
240,000 - - 240,000
- 1,594,302 - 85,154,019
113,181,053 2,811,309 198,326,821 1,929,172,666
- 313,054,128 677,626 638,497,444
- - 137,407,581 337,715,885
146,806,333 - 65,504,661 494,062,319
- - - (96,272,463)
146,806,333 313,054,128 203,589,868 1,374,003,185
259,987,386 315,865,437 401,916,689 3,303,175,851
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Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet

to the Statement of Net Assets

NEVADA
June 30, 2012

Total fund balances - governmental funds $ 1,374,003,185

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets are different
because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore
are not reported in the funds. These assets consist of:

Land $ 143,870,124
Construction in progress 139,180,430
Infrastructure assets 3,476,100,198
Rights-of-way 609,416,369
Buildings 1,591,325,419
Improvements other than buildings 117,072,805
Furniture and equipment 332,469,387
Software costs 158,135,861
Accumulated depreciation/amortization (937,800,117)
Total capital assets 5,629,770,476

Some of the State's revenues will be collected after year-end but are not available
soon enough to pay for the current period's expenditures and therefore are deferred
in the funds. 327,646,273

Intergovernmental receivable not providing current resources. 221,045

The Judicial Retirement System of Nevada has a net pension obligation not reported as an
expenditure in the funds. (1,288)

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities
to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included
in governmental activities in the statement of net assets. 56,268,051

The deferred loss on early retirement of debt is reported as a deferred charge on the
statement of net assets and is amortized over the original remaining life of the old debt,
or the life of the new debt, whichever is less. 10,749,419

Certain bond costs are reported as a deferred charge on the statement of net assets
and are amortized over the life of the debt. 12,638,030

Certain liabilities for settlement agreements are not due and payable in the current period
and therefore are not reported in the funds. (21,317,183)

Some liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not
reported in the funds. Those liabilities consist of:

Bonds payable (2,539,669,887)
Accrued interest on bonds (18,226,883)
Arbitrage rebate liability (798,758)
Certificates of participation (54,307,447)
Capital leases (28,019,192)
Compensated absences (90,536,989)
Total long-term liabilities (2,731,559,156)
Net assets of governmental activities $ 4,658,418,852

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and C

Governmental Funds

ges in Fund Balances

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012

Gaming taxes, fees, licenses
Sales taxes

Modified business taxes
Insurance premium taxes
Property and transfer taxes
Motor and special fuel taxes
Other taxes

Intergovernmental

Licenses, fees and permits
Sales and charges for services
Interest and investment income
Settlement income

Land sales

Other

Total revenues

Current:
General government
Health and social services
Education and support services
Law, justice and public safety
Regulation of business
Transportation
Recreation and resource development

Intergovernmental
Capital outlay

Debt service:
Principal
Interest, fiscal charges
Debt issuance costs
Arbitrage payments
Total expenditures
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures

Sale of general obligation bonds

Sale of general obligation refunding bonds
Premium on general obligation bonds
Payment to refunded bond agent

Sale of capital assets

Transfers in

Transfers out

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances
Fund balances, July 1

Fund balances, June 30

Municipal Bond

General Fund State Highway Bank
870,006,559 - $ -
965,059,778 - -
369,660,633 - -
236,787,376 - -

48,683,032 - -
2,824,782 183,856,011 -
598,210,399 13,556,108 -
2,678,185,912 527,122,902 -
278,355,925 181,306,963 -
55,718,819 13,934,061 -
6,006,062 3,033,810 14,299,448
125,418,529 21,911,390 -
6,234,917,806 944,721,245 14,299,448
134,259,973 - -
2,991,985,100 - -
53,430,214 - -
424,438,638 151,311,864 -
73,407,545 - -

- 846,334,764 -

100,956,250 - -
2,449,930,981 80,449,683 -
1,620,888 53,423 -
1,565,760 2,412 -
3,234 - ;
6,231,598,583 1,078,152,146 -
3,319,223 (133,430,901) 14,299,448
451,307 - 15,310,000

- - 10,135,000

41,927 - -
- - (10,611,791)

93,555 - -
61,766,448 6,470,232 -
(42,088,933) (7,161,843) (30,014,348)
20,264,304 (691,611) (15,181,139)
23,583,527 (134,122,512) (881,691)
246,745,199 288,180,871 287,047,462
270,328,726 154,058,359 $ 286,165,771

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Consolidated Bond
Interest and

Permanent School Other Governmental Total Governmental

Redemption Fund Funds Funds
- - % 14,323,967 884,330,526
- - - 965,059,778
- - - 369,660,633
- - - 236,787,376
146,097,340 - 20,869,058 215,649,430
- - 80,499,712 267,180,505
- - 45,371,372 657,137,879
28,945,231 - 101,304,390 3,335,558,435
- - 30,577,565 490,240,453
416,144 - 15,141,788 85,210,812
(1,613,218) 1,977,004 (1,103,841) 22,599,265
- - 40,291,149 40,291,149
- 396,594 - 396,594
- 6,327,053 7,263,932 160,920,904
173,845,497 8,700,651 354,539,092 7,731,023,739
259,388 - 369,461 134,888,822
- - 104,471,955 3,096,457,055
- - 529,191 53,959,405
- - 28,613,309 604,363,811
- - 18,384,782 91,792,327
- - - 846,334,764
- - 24,852,565 125,808,815
170,750 - 39,141,750 2,569,693,164
- - 34,222,539 34,222,539
118,495,000 - 50,835,000 171,004,311
95,958,933 - 28,450,539 125,977,644
1,223,569 - 567,998 1,794,801
21,621 - - 21,621
216,129,261 - 330,439,089 7,856,319,079
(42,283,764) 8,700,651 24,100,003 (125,295,340)
- - 26,258,693 42,020,000
166,455,000 - 66,490,000 243,080,000
25,501,360 - 14,987,159 40,530,446
(190,663,252) - (78,641,419) (279,916,462)
- - 9,954 103,509
44,773,969 - 43,026,080 156,036,729
(150,165) (2,007,215) (77,658,174) (159,080,678)
45,916,912 (2,007,215) (5,527,707) 42,773,544
3,633,148 6,693,436 18,572,296 (82,521,796)
143,173,185 306,360,692 185,017,572 1,456,524,981
146,806,333 313,054,128 % 203,589,868 1,374,003,185
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Reconciliation of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

it

NEVADA
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ (82,521,796)
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Capital outlays are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. However, in the
statement of activities, the cost of capital assets is allocated over their estimated useful
lives as depreciation expense. In the current period, the amounts are:

Capital outlay $221,991,031
Depreciation expense (66,188,533)
Excess of capital outlay over depreciation expense 155,802,498

Debt proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds; however, issuing
debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets. In the current period,

proceeds were received from:

Bonds issued (285,100,000)
Premiums on debt issued (40,530,445)
Total bond proceeds (325,630,445)

Repayment of long-term debt is reported as an expenditure in governmental funds, but the
repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets. In the current year,
these amounts consist of:

Bond principal retirement 162,291,677
Certficates of participation retirement 1,660,000
Payments to the bond refunding agent 279,916,462
Capital lease payments 1,693,331
Total long-term debt repayment 445,561,470

Internal service funds are used to charge the costs of certain activities to individual funds.
The net revenue (loss) of the internal service funds is reported with governmental activities. (1,877,267)

Because some revenues will not be collected for several months after the State's fiscal year
end, they are not considered "available" revenues and are deferred in the governmental funds.
Deferred revenues unavailable decreased by this amount. 122,908,424

In the statement of activities, the gain or loss on the sale of assets is reported, whereas in the
governmental funds, only the proceeds from the sale increase financial resources. Thus, the

the change in net assets differs from the change in fund balance by the cost of the asset sold. (461,828)
In the statement of activities, bond issuance costs are deferred and amortized over the life of

the bonds, whereas in governmental funds the entire expenditure is recognized. 1,794,801
Amortization of bond issuance costs is reported as an expense for the statement of activities. (1,219,319)

Amortization of deferred loss on early retirement of debt is reported as an expense for the
statement of activities. (6,988,111)

Amortization of premiums on bonds and certificates of participation is reported as a reduction
of interest expense for the statement of activities. 12,304,601

Some items reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial
resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. These
activities consist of:

Decrease in pension obligation 163,931
Decrease in accrued interest 1,459,415
Decrease in compensated absences 6,253,355
Decrease in arbitrage liability 680,318
Decrease in long term due to component unit 3,471,391
Increase in settlement agreement liability (21,317,183)
Total additional expenditures (9,288,773)
Change in net assets of governmental activities $ 310,384,255

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Statement of Net Assets

Proprietary Funds

June 30, 2012

Current assets:

Cash and pooled investments:
Cash with treasurer
Cash in custody of other officials

Investments

Receivables:
Accounts receivable
Assessments receivable
Intergovernmental receivables
Contracts receivable
Mortgages receivable
Accrued interest and dividends
Notes/loans receivable
Trades pending settlement

Due from other funds

Due from fiduciary funds

Due from component units

Inventory

Prepaid expenses

Restricted assets:
Investments

Total current assets
Noncurrent assets:
Investments
Receivables:
Contracts receivable
Mortgages receivable
Notes/loans receivable
Deferred charges
Restricted assets:
Investments
Other assets
Capital assets:
Land
Buildings
Improvements other than buildings
Furniture and equipment
Software costs
Construction in progress
Less accumulated depreciation/
amortization

Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

Enterprise Funds

Other

Housing Unemployment Water Projects Enterprise Internal
Division Compensation Loans Funds Total Service Funds
$ 755,863 $ - $ 93,922,838 $ 50,729,327 $ 145,408,028 $ 155,845,074
5,499,192 21,291,891 - 13,023,606 39,814,689 100
94,028,391 - - 143,244,996 237,273,387 -
- - - 3,629,221 3,629,221 1,331,779
- 187,477,390 - - 187,477,390 -
- - 1,041,615 457,249 1,498,864 3,227,895
- - - 5,440,426 5,440,426 -
12,619,054 - - - 12,619,054 -
7,488,628 - 3,811,539 411,874 11,712,041 -
- - - - - 5,000
- - - 6,800,546 6,800,546 -
47,414 470 581,565 1,188,496 1,817,945 5,062,523
- - - 6,047 6,047 2,402,664
- - - - - 53,155
- - - 1,558,028 1,558,028 207,181
103,291 - - 40,279 143,570 75,724
97,354,652 - - - 97,354,652 -
217,896,485 208,769,751 99,357,557 226,530,095 752,553,888 168,211,095
261,767,357 - 256,233,822 - 518,001,179 -
- - - 19,081,086 19,081,086 -
547,227,714 - - - 547,227,714 -
108,450 - 47,268,467 - 47,376,917 95,000
2,424,468 - 2,908,648 107,331 5,440,447 -
6,006,196 - - - 6,006,196 -
61,709 - - 15,000 76,709 -
- - - 567,812 567,812 130,954
- - - 3,388,840 3,388,840 18,789,315
- - - 630,647 630,647 3,839,621
423,317 - 35,280 5,428,877 5,887,474 45,486,442
- - - - - 15,323,810
- - - 8,607,008 8,607,008 -
(423,317) - (35,280) (7,901,944) (8,360,541) (62,814,114)
817,595,894 - 306,410,937 29,924,657  1,153,931,488 20,851,028
1,035,492,379 208,769,751 405,768,494 256,454,752  1,906,485,376 189,062,123
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Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accruals:
Accounts payable

Accrued payroll and related liabilities

Interest payable
Intergovernmental payables
Trades pending settlement

Bank overdraft

Due to other funds

Due to fiduciary funds

Due to component units

Unearned revenues

Other liabilities

Short-term portion of long-term liabilities:

Reserve for losses
Compensated absences
Benefits payable

Bonds payable

Obligations under capital leases

Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:
Advances from funds
Federal Unemployment Advance
Reserve for losses
Compensated absences
Benefits payable
Bonds payable
Obligations under capital leases

Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Net Assets

Invested in capital assets,
net of related debt
Restricted for:
Tuition contract benefits

Security of outstanding obligations

Workers' compensation

Revolving loans

Regulation of business
Unrestricted (deficit)

Total net assets

Some amounts reported for business-type activities in the statement of net assets are
different because certain internal service fund assets and liabilities are included with

business-type activities.

"‘L'\.':‘:"
/
NEVAADA
Enterprise Funds
Other

Housing Unemployment Water Projects Enterprise Internal
Division Compensation Loans Funds Total Service Funds
$ 18,076,334 $ 20,147,053 $ 27,823 $ 1,586,402 $ 39,837,612 $ 5,142,222
93,070 - 19,124 839,798 951,992 1,518,806
6,173,663 18,904,178 1,662,313 36,462 26,776,616 -
- - 59,140 45,869 105,009 96,279
- - - 21,855,645 21,855,645 -
- - - - - 5,545,826
3,137 1,930,412 328,681 2,107,218 4,369,448 1,264,807
- - - 73,952 73,952 14,100
- - 21,219 33,220 54,439 16,106
- - - 11,584,820 11,584,820 75,658
- - - 11,509 11,509 -
- - - - - 63,121,352
144,111 - 23,242 821,449 988,802 1,769,246
- - - 13,337,173 13,337,173 -
13,630,000 - 10,074,115 150,776 23,854,891 513,323
- - - - - 128,278
38,120,315 40,981,643 12,215,657 52,484,293 143,801,908 79,206,003
- - - 5,289,380 5,289,380 2,314,748
- 720,432,318 - - 720,432,318 -
- - - - - 43,615,899
148,295 - 10,094 497,107 655,496 1,179,072
- - - 145,759,183 145,759,183 -
797,375,612 - 87,397,603 8,927,539 893,700,754 6,276,218
- - - - - 247,920
797,523,907 720,432,318 87,407,697 160,473,209 1,765,837,131 53,633,857
835,644,222 761,413,961 99,623,354 212,957,502  1,909,639,039 132,839,860
- - - 3,076,240 3,076,240 13,758,872
- - - 2,236,573 2,236,573 -
190,584,941 - - - 190,584,941 -
- - - 33,030,563 33,030,563 -
- - 306,145,140 - 306,145,140 -
6,143,430 - - 2,000 6,145,430 -
3,119,786 (552,644,210) - 5,151,874 (544,372,550) 42,463,391
$ 199,848,157 $ (552,644,210) $ 306,145,140 $ 43,497,250 (3,153,663) $ 56,222,263

(45,788)

Net assets of business-type activities

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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“Figure 3-1”
Gabrielle Bachand

Provided by the Nevada Museum of Art

“Crane”
Gabirielle Bachand

Provided by the Nevada Museum of Art
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets

Proprietary Funds

NEVADA
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012
Enterprise Funds

Water Other Internal

Housing Unemployment Projects Enterprise Service

Division Compensation Loans Funds Total Funds
Net premium income $ - $ - 8 - $ - $ - $331,283,347
Sales - - - 19,851,203 19,851,203 2,313,306
Assessments - 515,402,076 - - 515,402,076 -
Charges for services - - - 17,205,895 17,205,895 42,542,103
Rental income - - - 56,400 56,400 18,283,610
Interest income on loans/notes 16,725,124 - 8,370,687 - 25,095,811 -
Federal government 10,699,950 770,378,985 28,708,844 - 809,787,779 -
Licenses, fees and permits - - - 36,644,416 36,644,416 -
Fines - - - 2,766,448 2,766,448 -
Other 3,380,073 1,543,857 - 1,338,046 6,261,976 48,260
Total operating revenues 30,805,147 1,287,324,918 37,079,531 77,862,408 1,433,072,004 394,470,626
Salaries and benefits 2,820,078 - 373,631 29,572,965 32,766,674 30,283,010
Operating 11,649,174 - 4,347,485 12,819,810 28,816,469 35,514,679
Claims and benefits expense - 1,260,135,089 - 34,031,846 1,294,166,935 204,929,647
Interest on bonds payable 26,444,014 - - - 26,444,014 -
Materials or supplies used - - - 2,770,109 2,770,109 1,046,464
Servicers' fees 111,824 - - - 111,824 -
Depreciation - - - 364,982 364,982 3,872,175
Amortization - - - - - 214,246
Bond issuance costs amortization 1,170,280 - 379,090 - 1,549,370 -
Insurance premiums - - - - - 120,058,292
Total operating expenses 42,195,370 1,260,135,089 5,100,206 79,559,712 1,386,990,377 395,918,513
Operating income (loss) (11,390,223) 27,189,829 31,979,325 (1,697,304) 46,081,627 (1,447,887)

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)]
Interest and investment income 18,305,485 - (1,440,184) 8,849,764 25,715,065 (560,335)
Interest expense - (26,704,058) (3,176,738) (441,226) (30,322,022) (33,613)
Bond issuance costs amortization - - - (4,206) (4,206) -
Federal grant revenue 9,016,494 - - 4,065,741 13,082,235 -
Federal grant expense (8,783,330) - - - (8,783,330) -
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets - - - 5,101 5,101 175,422
Arbitrage rebate - - 26,629 - 26,629 -
Total nonoperating revenues
(expenses) 18,538,649 (26,704,058) (4,590,293) 12,475,174 (280,528) (418,526)
Income (loss) before transfers 7,148,426 485,771 27,389,032 10,777,870 45,801,099 (1,866,413)
Transfers in 24,747 22,552,947 - 2,096,622 24,674,316 272,433
Transfers out - (8,505,494) (1,292,674)  (11,867,623) (21,665,791) (237,009)
Change in net assets 7,173,173 14,533,224 26,096,358 1,006,869 48,809,624 (1,830,989)
Net assets, July 1 192,674,984 (567,177,434) 280,048,782 42,490,381 58,053,252
Net assets, June 30 $199,848,157 $ (552,644,210) $306,145,140 $ 43,497,250 $ 56,222,263
Some amounts reported for business-type activities in the statement of activities are
different because the net revenue (expense) of certain internal service funds is
reported with business-type activities. 46,278
Change in net assets of business-type activities $ 48,855,902

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012

Enterprise Funds

Water Other Internal
Housing Unemployment Projects Enterprise Service
Division Compensation Loans Funds Totals Funds
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers and users $ 10,201,399 $ 496,518,496 $ - $ 71,473,476 $ 578,193,371 $ 67,184,891
Receipts for interfund services provided 32,933 3,125,561 - 3,737,565 6,896,059 258,591,556
Receipts from component units - - - - - 72,895,901
Receipts of principal on loans/notes 57,086,611 - 22,569,414 - 79,656,025 5,000
Receipts of interest on loans/notes 38,829,398 - 8,041,770 - 46,871,168 -
Receipts from federal government 10,699,950 770,378,985 29,616,332 - 810,695,267 -
Payments to suppliers, other
governments and beneficiaries (17,194,914) (1,267,458,874) (4,278,017) (21,270,183) (1,310,201,988) (331,004,819)
Payments to employees (2,634,210) - (374,196) (30,846,924) (33,855,330) (30,200,107)
Payments for interfund services (678,320) - (93,613) (6,091,381) (6,863,314) (19,940,104)
Payments to component units - - - (4,597,155) (4,597,155) (241,290)
Purchase of loans and notes (56,029,732) - (33,151,142) - (89,180,874) -
Net cash provided by (used for)
operating activities 40,313,115 2,564,168 22,330,548 12,405,398 77,613,229 17,291,028
Cash flows from noncapital
financing activities
Grant receipts 9,016,494 - - 3,827,847 12,844,341 -
Advances from federal government - 314,946,333 - - 314,946,333 -
Proceeds from sale of bonds 48,346,000 - 34,701,425 - 83,047,425 -
Transfers and advances from other funds 24,747 22,552,947 - 2,096,701 24,674,395 298,769
Payment on federal advance - (367,674,983) - - (367,674,983) -
Payment on refunding bonds - - (31,770,035) - (31,770,035) -
Principal paid on noncapital debt (157,975,418) - (8,690,000) - (166,665,418) -
Interest paid on noncapital debt (27,073,322) (22,552,947) (3,841,330) - (53,467,599) -
Issue costs (1,186,721) - - - (1,186,721) -
Transfers and advances to other funds - (8,722,256) (1,480,328) (10,920,589) (21,123,173) (336,289)
Payments to other governments
and organizations (8,783,330) - (9,987) - (8,793,317) -
Net cash provided by (used for)
noncapital financing activities (137,631,550) (61,450,906) (11,090,255) (4,996,041) (215,168,752) (37,520)
Cash flows from capital and
related financing activities
Proceeds from sale of capital assets - - - 5,100 5,100 175,422
Purchase of capital assets - - - (239,158) (239,158) (1,759,112)
Principal paid on capital debt - - - (174,703) (174,703) (1,887,949)
Interest paid on capital debt - - - (442,349) (442,349) (33,602)
Payments on construction projects - - - (81,620) (81,620) -
Net cash provided by (used for)
capital and related financing
activities - - - (932,730) (932,730) (3,505,241)
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of investments 688,205,354 - - 192,988,060 881,193,414 -
Purchase of investments (609,204,207) - - (192,914,677) (802,118,884) -
Interest, dividends and gains (losses) 18,808,252 - (1,746,337) 2,914,377 19,976,292 (816,296)
Net cash provided by (used for)
investing activities 97,809,399 - (1,746,337) 2,987,760 99,050,822 (816,296)
Net increase (decrease) in cash 490,964 (58,886,738) 9,493,956 9,464,387 (39,437,431) 12,931,971
Cash and cash equivalents, July 1 5,764,091 80,178,629 84,428,882 54,288,546 224,660,148 142,913,203

Cash and cash equivalents, June 30 $ 6,255,055 $ 21,291,891 $ 93,922,838 $ 63,752,933 $ 185,222,717 $ 155,845,174
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Reconciliation of operating income

(loss) to net cash provided by
(used for) operating activities

Operating income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile operating
income (loss) to net cash provided
by (used for) operating activities

Depreciation

Amortization

Bond issuance costs amortization

Interest on bonds payable

Decrease (increase) in loans and
notes receivable

Decrease (increase) in accrued
interest and receivables

Decrease (increase) in inventory,
deferred charges, other assets

Increase (decrease) in accounts
payable, accruals, other liabilities

Other adjustments

Total adjustments

Net cash provided by (used for)
operating activities

Noncash investing, capital and
financing activities

Conversion of bonds

Increase (decrease) in fair value of
investments

Enterprise Funds

NEVADA

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Water Other Internal
Housing Unemployment Projects Enterprise Service
Division Compensation Loans Funds Totals Funds
$ (11,390,223) $ 27,189,829 $31,979,325 $ (1,697,304) $ 46,081,627 (1,447,887)
- - - 364,982 364,982 3,872,175
- - - - - 214,246
1,170,280 - 379,090 - 1,549,370 -
26,444,014 - - 26,444,014 -
22,310,609 - (10,581,728) - 11,728,881 5,000
58,775 (17,301,876) 578,571 (3,762,007) (20,426,537) 3,969,406
3,913,659 - - (123,711) 3,789,948 140,691
(2,193,999) (7,323,785) (24,710) 17,623,438 8,080,944 10,537,408
- - - - - (11)
51,703,338 (24,625,661) (9,648,777) 14,102,702 31,531,602 18,738,915
$ 40,313,115 $ 2,564,168 $ 22,330,548 $ 12,405,398 $ 77,613,229 $ 17,291,028
$ 66,940,000 $ - % - $ - $ 66,940,000 $ -
- - - 5,971,232 5,971,232 -



Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets

Fiduciary Funds

June 30, 2012

Cash and pooled investments:
Cash with treasurer
Cash in custody of other officials

Investments:
Investments
Fixed income securities
Marketable equity securities
International securities
Real estate
Alternative investments

Collateral on loaned securities

Receivables:
Accounts receivable
Accrued interest and dividends
Taxes receivable
Trades pending settlement
Intergovernmental receivables
Contributions receivable
Other receivables

Due from other funds
Due from fiduciary funds
Due from component unit
Other assets

Furniture and equipment
Accumulated depreciation

Total assets

Accounts payable and accruals:
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll and related liabilities
Intergovernmental payables
Redemptions payable
Trades pending settlement

Bank overdraft
Obligations under securities lending
Due to other funds
Due to fiduciary funds
Other liabilities:
Deposits
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Net Assets

Held in trust for:
Employees' pension benefits
OPEB benefits
Pool participants
Individuals

Total net assets

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Pension and Other
Employee Benefit

Investment Trust

Private-Purpose Trust

NEVADA

Trust Funds Funds Funds Agency Funds
$ 1,528,963 $ 9,332 $ 5,134,366 $ 81,247,513
593,524,578 10,725,936 6,619,077 38,814,981
940,236 1,064,442,063 9,182,521,279 189,224,684
7,146,546,121 - - -
10,191,138,667 - - -
5,998,645,275 - - -
1,274,776,786 - - -
823,381,966 - - -
4,282,354,105 - - R
- - 130,361 -

98,664,392 2,142,101 1,398,795 -

- - - 45,941,051

100,598,488 151,327 747,658 -
106,338,087 - 6,508 100,713

N - 7,378,873 -

- - - 109,395

106,963 - 182,150 458,521,181
17,540,862 - - 10,386,098
1,089,169 - - -
1,943,229 - - -
38,012,927 - - -
(34,477,355) - - -
30,642,653,459 1,077,470,759 9,204,119,067 824,345,616
12,450,955 139,746 1,828,504 -

- - - 3,770

- 5,176 23,220 504,331,783

- - 2,153,248 -

334,653,478 11,353,105 2,075,735 -

- - 453,000 -
4,324,339,085 - - R
2,402,664 37,518 634,884 -

- - 33,477 27,893,483

- - - 285,729,611

- - - 6,386,969
4,673,846,182 11,535,545 7,202,068 824,345,616
25,967,529,585 - - -
1,277,692 - - -

- 1,065,935,214 - -

- - 9,196,916,999 -

$  25,968,807,277 $ 1,065,935,214 $ 9,196,916,999 $ -
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Statement of

Fiduciary Funds

es in Fiduciary Net Assets

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012

Contributions:

Employer

Plan members

Participants

Repayment and purchase of service

Total contributions

Investment income:

Net increase (decrease) in fair value of investments

Interest, dividends
Net securities lending income
Other

Less investment expense:
Other

Net investment income
Other:
Investment from local governments

Reinvestment from interest income
Other

Total other
Total additions

Principal redeemed
Benefit payments
Refunds

Contribution distributions
Dividends to investors
Administrative expense
Transfer out

Total deductions
Change in net assets
Net assets, July 1

Net assets, June 30

Pension and Other

Employee Benefit
Trust Funds

Investment Trust

NEVADA

Private-Purpose Trust

$

1,368,166,392
98,209,337

37,993,705

1,504,369,434

34,725,381
673,857,038

(3,406,661)

91,642,326

796,818,084

(29,022,141)

767,795,943

2,138,652

2,138,652

2,274,304,029

1,588,595,395
27,783,467
1,660,482

10,111,946

1,628,151,290

646,152,739
25,322,654,538

25,968,807,277

Funds Funds
$ - $ -
- 2,328,941,249
- 2,328,941,249
(2,548,438) (81,283,496)
12,979,485 212,318,586
10,431,047 131,035,090
(30,761) -
10,400,286 131,035,090
781,043,373 -
685,478 -
312 -
781,729,163 -
792,129,449 2,459,976,339
840,089,025 1,398,789,751
- 17,600,480
735,093 -
644,129 21,695,787
841,468,247 1,438,086,018
(49,338,798) 1,021,890,321
1,115,274,012 8,175,026,678
$ 1,065,935,214 $ 9,196,916,999

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012

NEVADA

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. Reporting Entity

The accompanying financial statements of the State of Nevada
(the State) have been prepared in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAP) as applied to government units. The Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard
setting body for establishing governmental accounting and
financial reporting principles. As required by GAAP, the
State’s reporting entity includes the “primary government”
and its “component units.” The primary government includes
all funds, departments, agencies, and those authorities that
are considered an integral part of the primary government.
Component units are legally separate governmental organi-
zations for which the State’s elected officials are financially
accountable. The State’s component units have a June 30
year-end.

Financial accountability is defined in GASB Statement No.
14, The Financial Reporting Entity, as amended by GASB
Statement No. 39, Determining Whether Certain Organiza-
tions are Component Units. The State is financially account-
able for those entities in which the State appoints a voting
majority of an organization’s governing authority, and either
is able to impose its will upon the entity or there exists a finan-
cial benefit or burden relationship with the State. For those
entities in which the State does not appoint a voting majority
of the governing authority, GASB Statement No. 14 requires
inclusion in the reporting entity if they are fiscally dependent
on the State or if it would be misleading to exclude the entity.

Blended Component Units: The following blended compo-
nent units are entities that are legally separate from the State.
However, since the State Legislature retains certain signifi-
cant governing powers over these entities, they are reported
as if they are part of the primary government under the provi-
sions of GASB Statement No. 14.

The Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS), the
Legislators’ Retirement System (LRS) and the Judicial
Retirement System (JRS) are administered by a seven-
member board appointed by the Governor. PERS is the
administrator of a cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined
benefit public employees’ retirement system established by
the Nevada Legislature in 1947 to provide a reasonable base
income to qualified employees who have been employed
by a public employer and whose earning capacities have
been removed or substantially impaired by age or disabil-
ity. LRS is the administrator of a single-employer public
employees’ defined benefit retirement system established
in 1967 by the Nevada Legislature to provide a reasonable
base income to Legislators at retirement. JRS is the admin-
istrator of an agent multiple-employer public employ-
ees’ defined benefit retirement system established by the
Nevada Legislature to provide a reasonable base income
to justices of the Supreme Court, district judges, municipal
court judges, and justices of the peace at retirement.
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The Retirement Benefits Investment Fund (RBIF) was creat-
ed by NRS 355.220 (2) for the sole purpose of providing an
investment vehicle for monies belonging to either the State
or local government other post employment benefit trust
funds. RBIF is administered by the Retirement Benefits
Investment Board, which consists of the same members as
the Public Employees’ Retirement Board.

Nevada Real Property Corporation is a legally separate
entity whose board of directors are exclusively State
employees or officials. It was incorporated to finance
certain construction projects. Such projects include office
buildings, a transitional residential facility and a warehouse,
all financed by the issuance of certificates of participation.
Upon completion of construction, the Corporation leases
the facilities to the State. The State reports these financial
transactions as part of the primary government using the
blended method.

Discretely Presented Component Units: Per the provi-
sions of GASB Statement No. 14, a component unit should be
included in the reporting entity financial statements using the
discrete presentation method if the component unit’s govern-
ing body is not substantively the same as the governing body
of the primary government, and the component unit does not
provide services entirely or almost entirely to the primary
government. The following discretely presented component
units are reported in separate columns in the basic financial
statements to emphasize they are legally separate from the
State.

The Nevada System of Higher Education (NSHE) is
governed by a Board of Regents elected by the voters.
However, NSHE is fiscally dependent upon the State
because of appropriations from the State Legislature, the
Legislative approval of the budget for those appropriations,
the levying of taxes, if necessary, and the issuance of debt
to support NSHE. Because NSHE has a separate govern-
ing body and does not provide services entirely or almost
entirely to the primary government, it is presented discrete-
ly in the financial statements.

The Colorado River Commission (CRC)is alegally separate
entity responsible for managing Nevada’s interests in the
water and power resources available from the Colorado
River. It is governed by seven commissioners, a major-
ity of whom are appointed by the State: four are appointed
by the Governor and three are appointed by the board of
directors of the Southern Nevada Water Authority. Bonds
issued by the CRC are backed by the full faith and credit of
the State of Nevada, which creates the potential for a finan-
cial burden to the State. CRC provides services to citizens
through the distribution and sale of electric power. As
CRC has a separate governing body and does not provide
services entirely or almost entirely to the primary govern-
ment, it is presented discretely in the financial statements.



Notes to Financial Statements

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012

(Note 1 Continued)

Complete financial statements for each of the individual
component units, with the exception of the Nevada Real
Property Corporation, which has no other financial activity
than that described above, may be obtained at that entity’s
administrative offices:

Public Employees’ Retirement System
Carson City, NV

Retirement Benefits Investment Fund
Carson City, NV

Legislators’ Retirement System
Carson City, NV

Judicial Retirement System

Carson City, NV

Nevada System of Higher Education
Reno, NV

Colorado River Commission

Las Vegas, NV

Related Organizations: The Governor is responsible for
appointing the members of many occupational licensing
boards. The State’s accountability for these boards does not
extend beyond making the appointments and thus these boards
are excluded from this report. The State does not exercise
financial or administrative control over the excluded occupa-
tional licensing boards.

B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements
Government-Wide Financial Statements: The Statement
of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities report informa-
tion on all non-fiduciary activities of the primary government
and its component units. For the most part, the effect of inter-
fund activity has been removed from these statements. Inter-
fund receivables and payables between governmental funds
and enterprise funds are reported as internal balances in the
government-wide statement of net assets. Primary govern-
ment activities are distinguished between governmental and
business-type activities. Governmental activities generally
are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and
other non-exchange revenues. Business-type activities are
financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties
for goods or services.

The Statement of Net Assets presents the reporting entity’s
non-fiduciary assets and liabilities with the difference report-
ed as net assets. Net assets are reported in three categories:

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt consists of
capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced
by outstanding balances for bonds, notes, and other debt
that are attributed to the acquisition, construction, or
improvement of those assets.

Restricted net assets result when constraints placed on net
asset use are either externally imposed by creditors, grant-
ors, contributors, and the like, or imposed by law through
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Addition-
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al disclosure related to the amount of net assets restricted
by enabling legislation is provided in Note 11.

Unrestricted net assets consist of net assets that do not meet
the definition of the two preceding categories. Unrestrict-
ed net assets often have constraints on resources that are
imposed by management but can be removed or modified.

The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which
the direct expenses of a given function or segment are offset
by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are
clearly identifiable within a specific function. Certain central-
ized costs have been included as part of the program expenses
reported for the various functions and activities. Program
revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants who
purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privi-
leges provided by a given function, and 2) grants and contri-
butions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital
requirements of a particular function. Taxes and other items
not meeting the definition of program revenues are instead
reported as general revenues. In general, internal activity has
been eliminated from the Statement of Activities. Overhead
costs have been removed to minimize the double counting of
internal activities, but interfund services provided and used
have been retained, as their elimination would distort the
measurement of the cost of individual functional activities.
Internal activities of a reimbursement type nature reduce the
expenses of the reimbursed programs.

Fund Financial Statements: Separate financial statements
are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and
fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the
government-wide statements. Major individual governmen-
tal funds and major individual proprietary funds are reported
as separate columns in the fund financial statements with
non-major funds being combined into a single column.

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and
Financial Statement Presentation

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting: The
government-wide statements are reported using the economic
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of account-
ing, as are the proprietary and fiduciary fund financial state-
ments. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing
of cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in
the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items
are recognized as revenues as soon as all eligibility require-
ments imposed by the provider have been met.

Private-sector standards of accounting and financial reporting
issued prior to December 1, 1989 generally are followed in both
the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements
to the extent that those standards do not conflict with or contra-
dict guidance of the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board. Governments also have the option of following subse-
quent private-sector guidance for their business-type activities
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(Note 1 Continued)

and enterprise funds, subject to this same limitation. The State
has elected not to follow subsequent private-sector guidance.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expens-
es from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and expenses
generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s
principal, ongoing operations. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues
and expenses.

Governmental fund statements are reported using the current
financial resources measurement focus and the modified
accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when
susceptible to accrual; that is, when they become both measur-
able and available. “Measurable” means the amount of the
transaction can be determined, and “available” means collect-
ible within the current period or soon thereafter. The State
considers revenues as available if they are collected within
60 days after year-end. Those revenues susceptible to accrual
are gaming revenues, sales taxes, other taxes as described in
Note 12, interest revenue and charges for services. Fines and
permit revenues are not susceptible to accrual because they
are generally not measurable until received in cash.

Expenditures generally are recorded when the related fund
liability is incurred. However, expenditures for principal and
interest on long-term debt are recorded as fund liabilities
only when due or when amounts have been accumulated in
the debt service fund for payments to be made early in the
following year. Inventories and prepaids are reported using
the consumption method.

The State reports deferred revenue on its governmental funds
balance sheet. Deferred revenues arise when potential revenue
does not meet both the “measurable” and “available” criteria
for recognition in the current period. Deferred revenues also
arise when resources are received by the State before it has a
legal claim to them, as when grant monies are received before
the incurrence of qualifying expenditures. In subsequent
periods, when both revenue recognition criteria are met, or
when the State has a legal claim to the resources, the liability
for deferred revenue is removed from the governmental funds
balance sheet and revenue is recognized.

Restricted revenues are those monies that are legally segre-
gated for specific purposes. For example, a portion of a
particular property tax levy may be legally pledged to support
debt service. The policy of the State is to expend restricted
revenues first in a fund, followed by unrestricted revenues.

Financial Statement Presentation:
following major governmental funds:

The State reports the

The General Fund is the State’s primary operating fund. It
accounts for all financial resources of the general government
except those required to be accounted for in another fund.
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The State Highway Fund accounts for the maintenance,
regulation, and construction of public highways and is
funded through vehicle fuel taxes, federal funds, and other
charges.

The Municipal Bond Bank Fund accounts for revenues and
expenditures associated with buying local governments’
bonds with proceeds of State general obligation bonds.

The Consolidated Bond Interest and Redemption Fund
accumulates monies for the payment of leases and of princi-
pal and interest on general obligation bonds of the State.

The Permanent School Fund accounts for certain property
and the proceeds derived from such property, escheated
estates, and all fines collected under penal laws of the State,
which become permanent assets of the fund. All earnings
on the assets are to be used for education.

The State reports the following major enterprise funds:

The Housing Division Fund accounts for the State program
to assist private lenders in providing low interest housing
loans to low- and moderate-income households. This
program is financed through the sale of bonds.

The Unemployment Compensation Fund accounts for the
payment of unemployment compensation benefits.

The Water Projects Loans Fund accounts for revenues
and expenses associated with operating a revolving fund
to finance local government pollution control projects,
and with operating revolving and set-aside program funds
to finance local public water systems’ safe drinking water
projects.

Additionally, the State reports the following fund types:

Proprietary Fund Types:

Enterprise Funds - report the activities for which fees
are charged to external users for goods or services such as
workers’ compensation, insurance, prison industry and higher
education tuition trust.

Internal Service Funds - provide goods or services primar-
ily to other agencies or funds of the State rather than to the
general public. These goods and services include account-
ing, communications, information technology, motor pool,
personnel, printing, property management, purchasing and
risk management. In the government-wide statements, inter-
nal service funds are included with governmental activities.

Fiduciary Fund Types:

Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds - report
resources that are required to be held in trust for the members
and beneficiaries of the State’s defined benefit pension plans
and other post-employment benefit plans.
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Investment Trust Funds - report resources received from local
governments that are either pooled in an external investment
portfolio for the benefit of all participants or separated into
subaccounts of identified investments allocated to specific
participating local governments. Examples include the Local
Government Investment Pool, the Nevada Enhanced Savings
Term and the Retirement Benefits Investment Fund.

Private Purpose Trust Funds - report resources of all other
trust arrangements in which principal and income benefit
individuals, private organizations, or other governments.
Examples include the Prisoners’ Personal Property and the
Nevada College Savings Plan.

Agency Funds - report assets and liabilities for deposits and
investments entrusted to the State as an agent for others.
Examples of funds in this category include motor vehicle,
veterans’ custodial and child welfare.

D. Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets/Fund Balance
Cash and Pooled Investments - The State Treasurer manages a
cash pool where all temporary surplus cash is invested. These
investments are reported on the Statement of Net Assets and
Balance Sheet as cash and pooled investments. Earnings from
these pooled investments are credited to the General Fund and
certain other funds that have specific statutory authority to
receive a prorated share based on daily cash balances. Also
included in this category is cash held by departments in petty
cash funds and in bank accounts outside the Treasurer’s cash
management pool. The operations and investments of the
cash pool are described in Note 3.

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as bank accounts, petty
cash, money market demand accounts and certificates of
deposit with original maturities of three months or less. Cash
and cash equivalents are reported in the Statement of Cash
Flows for proprietary fund types.

Investments - Investments are stated at fair value. Fair
value is defined as the price at which an asset passes from a
willing seller to a willing buyer. It is assumed that both buyer
and seller are rational and have a reasonable knowledge of
relevant facts. Short-term investments are generally reported
at cost, which approximates fair value, except for the short-
term investments of the Nevada College Savings Plan that
are valued at amortized cost, which approximates fair value.
Securities, traded on a national or international exchange, are
valued at the last reported sale price of the day. International
securities prices incorporate end-of-day exchange rates. The
fair value of real estate investments is based on estimated
current value, and MAI (Member Appraisal Institute) indepen-
dent appraisals. Investments that do not have an established
market are reported at estimated fair value.

The Local Government Investment Pool, the Nevada Enhanced
Savings Term Investment Trust and the Retirement Benefits
Investment Fund are investment trust funds as defined in
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Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No.
31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Invest-
ments and for External Investment Pools. The investments
of the Local Government Investment Pool and the Nevada
Enhanced Savings Term Investment Trust are subject to the
general limitation of section 355.170 of Nevada Revised
Statutes. The investments of the Retirement Benefits Invest-
ment Fund are governed by the prudent person standard, as
set forth by NRS 286.682. Security transactions are account-
ed for on the trade date (the date the order to buy or sell is
executed). Interest income is determined on an accrual basis
with discounts earned and premiums paid being amortized.
Realized gains and losses, if any, on sales of securities are
calculated using the amortized cost basis at the date of sale.
The fair value of the position in the pool is the same as the
value of the pool shares. Wells Fargo Trust Operations is the
custodian and transfer agent for both the Local Government
Investment Pool and the Nevada Enhanced Savings Term
Investment Trust funds. The Bank of New York Mellon is
the custodian and transfer agent for the Retirement Benefits
Investment Fund.

Derivatives are generally valued at quoted market value.
Under the circumstance where quoted market values are not
considered to be readily available, such derivatives are report-
ed at estimated fair value and the methods and significant
assumptions used are described in Note 3D.

Investments are discussed further in Note 3.

Receivables - Receivables represent amounts due to the State
at June 30, which will be collected sometime in the future.
In the government-wide financial statements, a correspond-
ing amount is recorded as revenue. In the governmental fund
financial statements, the portions considered “available” (i.e.,
received by the State within approximately 60 days after year-
end) are recorded as revenue; the remainder is recorded as
deferred revenue. Receivables in proprietary fund types have
arisen in the ordinary course of business. All receivables are
shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts.

Property taxes are levied July 1 on property values assessed
by the prior January 1. Property tax billings are payable in
quarterly installments on the third Monday in August and the
first Monday in October, January and March, after which time
the bill is delinquent.

Significant receivable balances not expected to be collected
within one year are presented in Note 4.

Interfund Transactions - The State has two types of interfund
transactions:

1. Services rendered and employee benefit contributions are
accounted for as revenues, expenditures/expenses in the
funds involved.



Notes to Financial Statements

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012

(Note 1 Continued)

2. Operating appropriations and subsidies are accounted for

as transfers in the funds involved.

Transfers and due from/due to other funds are presented in
Note 5.

Inventories - Inventories are stated at cost on the first-
in, first-out basis. Inventory in the State Highway Fund, a
special revenue fund, consists of expendable supplies held
for consumption. The cost is recorded as an expenditure at
the time individual inventory items are consumed. Inventory
items in the funds are offset by nonspendable fund balance to
indicate that they are unavailable for appropriation.

Prepaid Expenses — Prepaid expenses reflect payments for
costs applicable to future accounting periods and are record-
ed in both government-wide and fund financial statements.
Prepaid items in the funds are offset by nonspendable fund
balance to indicate that they are unavailable for appropria-
tion.

Advances to Other Funds - Long-term interfund advances
are recorded by the advancing fund as a receivable. These
amounts are reported in the nonspendable fund balance in the
General Fund to maintain the accountability and to disclose
properly the amount available for appropriation. In other
governmental funds this amount will be reported in restrict-
ed, committed, or assigned fund balances. Repayments are
credited to the receivable and corresponding reductions are
made in the appropriate fund balance. A summary of inter-
fund advances is presented in Note 5.

Capital Assets and Depreciation - An inventory of State-
owned land, buildings and equipment was developed in 1985.
All capital assets are recorded in the Statement of Net Assets
at historical cost or estimated historical cost, based on acquisi-
tion of comparable property or agency records, if actual histor-
ical cost is not available. Donated capital assets are stated at
appraised fair value at the time of donation or estimated fair
value at time of donation, based on acquisition of comparable
property, if appraised fair value is not available. The govern-
ment defines capital assets as assets with a unit cost of $5,000
or more for furniture and equipment, or $100,000 or more for
buildings and improvements, and an estimated useful life in
excess of one year. Interest incurred during construction is
only capitalized in proprietary funds.

Most capital assets are depreciated principally on a straight-
line basis over estimated useful lives of 40 years for struc-
tures and 3 to 30 years for improvements, furniture and equip-
ment. The State’s significant infrastructure assets utilize the
modified approach in which costs to maintain and preserve
these assets are expensed and no depreciation expense is
recorded. This approach is discussed further in the Required
Supplementary Information portion of this report.

52

NEVADA

In the Nevada System of Higher Education, capital assets are
defined as assets with an initial unit cost of $5,000 or more
and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such assets
are stated at cost at the date of acquisition or fair value at date
of donation in the case of gifts. Depreciation is computed on
a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives of 40 years for
buildings, 15 years for land improvements and 3 to 18 years
for library books, machinery and equipment.

Additional disclosure related to capital assets is provided in
Note 7.

Compensated Absences - Compensated absences are account-
ed for in accordance with GASB Statement No. 16, Account-
ing for Compensated Absences, which requires that a liabil-
ity for compensated absences relating to services already
rendered and that are not contingent on a specified event be
accrued as employees earn the rights to the benefits. Compen-
sated absences relating to future services or that are contin-
gent on a specified event will be accounted for in the period
those services are rendered or those events take place. Propri-
etary fund types report accrued compensated absences as
liabilities in the appropriate funds. Governmental funds report
a liability and expenditure for compensated absences only if
the liability has matured as a result of employee resignations
or retirements. Thus no expenditure would be recognized in
governmental funds for the unpaid balance of compensated
absences for employees still in active service at the end of the
reporting period. On the Statement of Net Assets, the accrued
compensated absences for both proprietary and governmental
fund types is reported.

Deferred Revenues - Deferred revenues in the General Fund
consist primarily of refundable gaming taxes and fees and
nonexchange transactions for which the revenue is measur-
able but not available. Deferred revenue in the debt service
funds consists primarily of amounts due from other govern-
ments to retire long-term debt.

Long-Term Obligations - In the government-wide state-
ments and proprietary fund financial statements, long-term
debt and other long-term liabilities are reported as liabilities.
Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are
deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the
straight-line method. Bonds payable are reported net of the
applicable bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs
are reported as deferred charges.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types
recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond
issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of
the debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premi-
ums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing
sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other
financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from
the actual debt proceeds, are reported as debt service expen-
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ditures. Long-Term Obligations are more fully described in
Note 8.

Net Assets/Fund Balance - The difference between fund assets
and liabilities is “Net Assets” on the government-wide, propri-
etary and fiduciary fund statements, and “Fund Balance” on
governmental fund statements.

Fund Balance Components — In governmental fund financial
statements, fund balances are classified based primarily on
the extent to which the State is bound to observe constraints
imposed upon the use of the resources in the fund as follows:
e Nonspendable fund balance includes items that cannot be
spent because they are either not in spendable form (such
as inventories, prepaid amounts and in the General Fund
long-term portion of loans/notes receivables) or legally or
contractually required to be maintained intact (such as the
principal of a permanent fund).

Restricted fund balances have constraints placed 